ISOCRATIC QUEST: PATTERNS OF PARTICIPATORY INEQUALITY IN NEW AND OLD EUROPEAN DEMOCRACIES

By

Daniela Sirinic

Submitted to

Central European University Department of Political Science

In partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Master of Arts

Supervisor: Carsten Q. Schneider

Budapest, Hungary

2009

Abstract

The present thesis attempts to develop further tools for critical assessment of the quality of existing democratic regimes. As the countries the countries with longer democratic tradition are regarded as having a higher quality than the neo democracies, the main goal of this thesis will be to assess the QoD in the countries with different length of democratic experience, that is Netherlands, Ireland, Poland and Slovenia. The assessment is conducted by describing their differences according to the inequalities in political participation. More precisely, this is done by using participatory distortion, the measure of political inequality developed by Verba, Brady and Schlozman (1995). Empirical analysis is conducted on the European Social Survey Module III dataset. The model is developed to test the input of participatory process by relating the types of political participation to the politically relevant characteristics (age, gender, education and income). Results of the analysis reveal following patterns of participatory distortion: women are found to be underrepresented across most of the types of participation in all of the countries analyzed; age is found to be the category with significantly more distortions than gender and significant distortions were found for two age groups: young and old. Furthermore, it has been found that the low educated individuals are the most under-represented category of all of the categories analyzed.

Second part of the empirical analysis introduces overall measure of participatory distortion calculated for every country from Logged Representation Scale. Ireland was found to be the country with least disproportionate participatory public and therefore the one that has achieved the highest level of political equality among the countries analyzed.

Acknowledgements

I wish to acknowledge Carsten Schneider who supervised this thesis and has guided me through an exiting endeavor of scientific work. Thanks are also due to Kristin Nickel, Levente Littvay and Andrija Henjak for their assistance on statistical problems. Furthermore, I am particularly grateful to my friends and colleagues, Zoltan Fazekas and Matej Kurian for their thoughtful and creative comments. Last but not the least, I am forever indebted to Dominik for his patience and encouragement.

CONTENTS

1. PARTICIPATION BIAS IN OLD AND NEW EUROPEAN DEMOCRACIES	1
2. STATE OF THE FIELD	5
2.1 QUALITY OF DEMOCRACY	5
2.2 POLITICAL EQUALITY AND POLITICAL PARTICIPATION	9
3. PARTICIPATORY EQUALITY WITHIN THE QUALITY OF DEMOCRACY	14
3.1 QUALITY OF DEMOCRACY CONCEPTUALIZATION AND MEASUREMENT	14
3.2 What is Political Equality?	19
4. MEASURING INEQUALITY IN POLITICAL PARTICIPATION	24
4.1 PARTICIPATORY REPRESENTATION	24
4.1.1 Descriptive representation	
4.1.2 New application of participatory distortion	
4.2 Case selection and variables	33
4.3 ANALYSIS	35
5. PARTICIPATORY BIAS IN NETHERLANDS, IRELAND, POLAND AND SLOVENIA	40
5.1 VOLUME OF POLITICAL PARTICIPATION	40
5.2 OVER-REPRESENTATION AND UNDER-REPRESENTATION	42
5.2.1 Gender Gap	43
5.2.2 Age and Political Participation	45
5.2.3 Highest level of education and political participation	46
5.2.4 Participation gap among income groups	48
5.2.5 Logged Representation Scale	
6. CONCLUSION	56
7. APPENDICES	60
7.1 APPENDIX A – DESCRIPTIVE STATISTICS FOR THE VARIABLES INCLUDED IN THE ANALYSIS	60
7.2 APPENDIX B – LIST OF ORIGINAL ESS 3 2006 VARIABLES AND CODING	76
7.3 APPENDIX C – CONFIDENCE INTERVALS AROUND THE MEANS FOR IRELAND, NETHERLANDS,	
SLOVENIA AND POLAND	79
7.4 APPENDIX D – LOGGED REPRESENTATION SCALE RESULTS FOR IRELAND, NETHERLANDS, SL	OVENIA
and Poland	81
7.5 Appendix $E - Summary$ measure of participatory distortion	87
8. REFERENCE LIST	

TABLES AND FIGURES

Tables

TABLE 4.1.1 EXAMPLE DATA FOR THE CALCULATION OF REPRESENTATION RATION There 4.2.1 Is a start of the calculation of representation ration	.31
TABLE 4.2.1 ILLUSTRATION OF THE MEASUREMENT PROCESS	.35
TABLE 4.3.1 INCOME VARIABLE CODING SCHEME	.37
TABLE 5.1.1 TURNOUT RATES FOR IRELAND, NETHERLANDS, POLAND AND SLOVENIA IN THE YEARS PRIOR TO) 11
EDDJ TADLE 5-2-1 INDED AND OVED DEDDEGENTATION IN IDELAND	50
TABLE 5.2.1 UNDER AND OVER-REPRESENTATION IN IRELAND.	50
TABLE 5.2.2 UNDER AND OVER-REPRESENTATION IN NETHERLANDS	51
TABLE 5.2.5 UNDER AND OVER-REPRESENTATION IN POLAND	51
TABLE 5.2.4 UNDER AND OVER-REPRESENTATION IN SLOVENIA	.51
TABLE 5.2.5 OVERALL PARTICIPATORY DISTORTION FOR EACH TYPE OF PARTICIPATION	.33
TABLE 7.1.1 VOTED LAST NATIONAL ELECTION	.60
TABLE 7.1.2 CONTACTED POLITICIAN OR GOVERNMENT OFFICIAL LAST 12 MONTHS TABLE 7.1.2 CONTACTED POLITICIAN OR GOVERNMENT OFFICIAL LAST 12 MONTHS	.60
TABLE 7.1.3 WORKED IN POLITICAL PARTY OR ACTION GROUP LAST 12 MONTHS	.61
TABLE 7.1.4 WORKED IN ANOTHER ORGANISATION OR ASSOCIATION LAST 12 MONTHS	.61
TABLE 7.1.5 WORN OR DISPLAYED CAMPAIGN BADGE/STICKER LAST 12 MONTHS	.61
TABLE 7.1.6 SIGNED PETITION LAST 12 MONTHS	.62
TABLE 7.1.7 TAKEN PART IN LAWFUL PUBLIC DEMONSTRATION LAST 12 MONTHS	.62
TABLE 7.1.8 Member of political party	.62
TABLE 7.1.9 Gender	.63
TABLE 7.1.10 Age	.63
TABLE 7.1.11 EDUCATION	.63
TABLE 7.1.12 INCOME	.63
TABLE 7.1.13 VOTED LAST NATIONAL ELECTION	.64
TABLE 7.1.14 CONTACTED POLITICIAN OR GOVERNMENT OFFICIAL LAST 12 MONTHS	.64
TABLE 7.1.15 WORKED IN POLITICAL PARTY OR ACTION GROUP LAST 12 MONTHS	.64
TABLE 7.1.16 WORKED IN ANOTHER ORGANIZATION OR ASSOCIATION LAST 12 MONTHS	.65
TABLE 7.1.17 WORN OR DISPLAYED CAMPAIGN BADGE/STICKER LAST 12 MONTHS	.65
TABLE 7.1.18 SIGNED PETITION LAST 12 MONTHS	.65
TABLE 7.1.19 TAKEN PART IN LAWFUL PUBLIC DEMONSTRATION LAST 12 MONTHS	.65
TABLE 7.1.20 MEMBER OF TRADE UNION OR SIMILAR ORGANIZATION	.66
TABLE 7.1.21 MEMBER OF POLITICAL PARTY.	.66
TABLE 7.1.22 Gender	.66
TABLE 7.1.23 AGE	.67
TABLE 71 24 FOLICATION	67
TABLE 71 25 INCOME	67
TABLE 7.1.25 INCOME INSTITUTIONAL ELECTION	67
TABLE 7.1.20 VOTED EAST NATIONAL ELECTION	68
TABLE 7.1.27 CONTACTED FORMENNON OF VERNIMENT OFFICIAL EAST 12 MONTHS	68
TABLE 7.1.20 WORKED IN FOLLITCAL PARTY OF ACTION OF ASSOCIATION LAST 12 MONTHS	68
TABLE 7.1.27 WORKED IN ANOTHER ORDANIZATION OR ASSOCIATION LAST 12 MONTHS	60
TADLE 7.1.30 WORN OR DISPLATED CAMPAION BADGE/STICKER LAST 12 MONTHS	60
TADLE 7.1.51 SIGNED PETITION LAST 12 MONTHS	.09
TADLE 7.1.32 TAKEN PART IN LAWFUL PUBLIC DEMONSTRATION LAST 12 MONTHS	.09
TABLE 7.1.35 MEMBER OF TRADE UNION OR SIMILAR ORGANIZATION	.70
TABLE 7.1.34 MEMBER OF POLITICAL PARTY	.70
TABLE /.1.35 GENDER	.70
IABLE /.1.36 AGE	./1
IABLE /.1.3/ EDUCATION	./1
1 ABLE /.1.38 INCOME	/1
TABLE /.1.39 VOTED LAST NATIONAL ELECTION	12
TABLE 7.1.40 CONTACTED POLITICIAN OR GOVERNMENT OFFICIAL LAST 12 MONTHS	.72
TABLE 7.1.41 WORKED IN POLITICAL PARTY OR ACTION GROUP LAST 12 MONTHS	.72
TABLE 7.1.42 WORKED IN ANOTHER ORGANIZATION OR ASSOCIATION LAST 12 MONTHS	.72
TABLE 7.1.43 WORN OR DISPLAYED CAMPAIGN BADGE/STICKER LAST 12 MONTHS	.73
TABLE 7.1.44 SIGNED PETITION LAST 12 MONTHS	.73

TABLE 7.1.45 TAKEN PART IN LAWFUL PUBLIC DEMONSTRATION LAST 12 MONTHS	73
TABLE 7.1.46 MEMBER OF TRADE UNION OR SIMILAR ORGANIZATION	73
TABLE 7.1.47 Member of political party	74
TABLE 7.1.48 Gender	74
TABLE 7.1.49 Age	74
TABLE 7.1.50 EDUCATION	74
TABLE 7.1.51 INCOME	75
TABLE 7.2.1 Original ESS 3 2006 variables and coding	76
TABLE 7.3.1 Confidence intervals around the means for Ireland	79
TABLE 7.3.2 Confidence intervals around the means for Netherlands	79
TABLE 7.3.3 Confidence intervals around the means for Poland	80
TABLE 7.3.4 Confidence intervals around the means for Slovenia	80
TABLE 7.4.1 LOGGED REPRESENTATION SCALE FOR IRELAND	81
TABLE 7.4.2 SUBGROUPS SHARE IN THE PARTICIPANT PUBLIC FOR IRELAND	81
TABLE 7.4.3 SUBGROUPS SHARE IN THE POPULATION FOR IRELAND	82
TABLE 7.4.4 LOGGED REPRESENTATION SCALE FOR NETHERLANDS	82
TABLE 7.4.5 SUBGROUPS SHARE IN THE PARTICIPANT PUBLIC FOR NETHERLANDS	83
TABLE 7.4.6 SUBGROUPS SHARE IN THE POPULATION FOR NETHERLANDS	83
TABLE 7.4.7 LOGGED REPRESENTATION SCALE FOR POLAND	84
TABLE 7.4.8 SUBGROUPS SHARE IN THE PARTICIPANT PUBLIC FOR POLAND	84
TABLE 7.4.9 SUBGROUPS SHARE IN THE POPULATION FOR POLAND	85
TABLE 7.4.10 LOGGED REPRESENTATION SCALE FOR SLOVENIA	85
TABLE 7.4.11 SUBGROUPS SHARE IN THE PARTICIPANT PUBLIC FOR SLOVENIA	86
TABLE 7.4.12 SUBGROUPS SHARE IN THE POPULATION FOR SLOVENIA	86
TABLE 7.5.1 SUMMARY MEASURE OF PARTICIPATORY DISTORTION FOR IRELAND	87
TABLE 7.5.2 SUMMARY MEASURE OF PARTICIPATORY DISTORTION FOR NETHERLANDS	87
TABLE 7.5.3 SUMMARY MEASURE OF PARTICIPATORY DISTORTION FOR SLOVENIA	88
TABLE 7.5.4 SUMMARY MEASURE OF PARTICIPATORY DISTORTION FOR POLAND	88

Figures

FIGURE 5.1 POLITICALLY ACTIVE INDIVIDUALS ACROSS TYPES OF PARTICIPATION IN IRELAND, NET	THERLANDS,
Poland and Slovenia	40
FIGURE 5.2 OVERALL PARTICIPATORY DISTORTION PER TYPE OF PARTICIPATION	54

1. PARTICIPATION BIAS IN OLD AND NEW EUROPEAN DEMOCRACIES

Such being our foundation and such the principle from which we start, the characteristics of democracy are as follows: the election of officers by all out of all; and that all should rule over each, and each in his turn over all; that the appointment to all offices, or to all but those which require experience and skill, should be made by lot; that no property qualification should be required for offices, or only a very low one; that a man should not hold the same office twice, or not often...

Aristotle, Politics, Book Six (350 B.C.E)

The present thesis attempts to develop further tools for critical assessment of the quality of existing democratic regimes. Democracy is not just a contemporary invention and our reality. It is also an ideal. An ideal that will never be fully reached in practice. Countries with longer democratic tradition and nascent European democracies now have to struggle with different problems but with the same goal – to maintain the functioning of democratic process and to reform their democracies so that they could endure the pressures of societal change. These problems were acknowledged in the Future of Democracy Report published by Council of Europe in 2004. Their concern is the best summary of 'democratic present' in Europe: 'more Europeans than ever before live in democratic systems and subscribe to democratic values. At the same time there is a sense that democracy has lost its vibrancy as a political system and is lacking in its capacity to mobilize citizens and hold representatives to account.' Representation, participation, accountability, control are only a small piece of the quality of democracy puzzle. Solutions to these problems and future recommendations are the driving forces behind the Quality of Democracy research project.

The emerging literature on the Quality of Democracy (in further text QoD) contains the conceptualizations and measurement suggestions which will be used to investigate a particular dimension of this multidimensional concept. Given the complexity of the QoD, ongoing debates concerning its scope and substance, and the conviction of this author that the emphasis on just one dimension (Morlino 2004 and Andreev 2005) can make more useful contribution to the scientific research than the overwhelming task of assessing each dimension in a single scientific venture; this paper will analyze political equality (Morlino 2004, Bühlmann et.al. 2007, Dahl 2006, Beitz 1990, Verba (1987) 2001), as a dimension of democracy which many deem the most important one and that deserves our full attention in the times of 'rising inequalities'.

Furthermore, conceptualization and measurement of QoD, and within it political equality, becomes not only purely scientific problem but also a practical one. It is impossible to offer policy recommendations and initiate reforms, if problem sources have not been detected and if the debate on what the 'quality of democracy' is, prevents political scientists from giving advice on what urging problems of 'established' democracies are and how the quality of new democracies can further be improved.

As it will be emphasized throughout this paper, the question whether or not all the citizens have equal rights to participate is not the only relevant one. Rather, the question is whether they do participate. As the instrumental feature of political equality, a detailed analysis of the status of equality in political participation in selected European democracies will be conducted. Research question of this paper can be stated as follows: **Do new and old democracies differ in their patterns of participatory distortion?**

As the countries with longer democratic experience are regarded as having a higher quality than the neo democracies, the main goal of this thesis will be to assess the QoD in the countries with different length of democratic experience. For this purpose Netherlands, Ireland, Poland and Slovenia have been selected. With this text the author does not attempt to propose a unique mono-causal explanation of the determinants of differences in political participation between selected countries. The goal is to investigate participatory distortions found in these countries. Preliminary results of the analysis will shape the recommendations for future research design and methodological strategy on determining causes and consequences of different inequality patterns found in the selected countries.

The assessment will be conducted by describing the differences among these countries according to the inequalities in political participation. More precisely, this shall be conducted by using participatory distortion, the measure of political inequality developed by Brady, Lehman-Schlozman and Verba (1995). Their model is developed to test the input of participatory process and it will be applied to check distortions in nine types of political participation (political activity) across the most relevant political attributes (age, gender, education and income).

The first chapter will provide a short summary of the most relevant works on the Quality of Democracy and criticism that has been directed towards the methodology, assumptions and the motives of the QoD research project. Furthermore, since political equality is the dimension of the QoD this paper will focus on, the literature review on the topic will also be provided. As it will be visible from this chapter, contemporary research projects are dedicated to the broader concept and problems of equality/inequality than political equality as the bedrock of democratic principles. Moreover, the intention of this paper is to see the differences between old and new European democracies in fulfilling the ideal of political equality.

The second chapter will focus on the more extensive review of the theoretical background for this research. After the critical assessment of the different approaches to the QoD appropriate definition of the QoD will be introduced. Since the definition of the QoD would have to include political equality as its constitutive attribute and political participation, as the component of political equality, the meaning of these concepts will also be specified. The third part of the thesis will be dedicated to the explanations on research design and detailed overview of the work employed in the empirical analysis. Concepts of descriptive representation, participatory distortion and measures used for empirical investigation of political equality will be presented in this part of the paper.

Detailed interpretation of the results will be provided in the fourth chapter. Since the analysis will include two differing measures of participatory distortion, results will be separately presented and than compared with the findings in recent literature on political participation. Furthermore, final section will be dedicated to the comparison of selected countries and the question whether old and new democracies differ in their patterns of participatory distortion will be answered.

2. STATE OF THE FIELD

2.1 Quality of Democracy

The emergence of 'self-proclaimed' (Andreev 2005, 1) liberal democracies in the last thirty years has created the need for defining the minimal requirements of democracy in order to differentiate non-democracies from democracies in the myriad of regime types existing today. Most importantly, the literature follows the direction of measurement and comparability of the liberal democracies. As a response to the 'crisis of democracy' (Crozier, Huntington and Watanuki 1975 and O'Donnell 2007) predictions and the declining confidence (Pharr, Putnam and Dalton 2000) in current democratic practices a new research agenda has emerged. Specification of standards for imperfections assessing, theoretical and systematic comparative analysis, and the development of the 'sense of proportion' (Linz 2007, 150) in critical analysis of the existing democracies are just some of the tasks waiting for the students of the QoD.

The research agenda dedicated to the QoD has emerged from the broader field of democratization and democratic theory, as a reasonable follow-up of the democratization primary research concern. Gerardo L. Munck (2007) discuses the main agendas, findings and challenges in democracy studies and identifies QoD as the third concept, after the democratic transition and democratic stability, that has emerged in the 1990. He finds that, contrary to the developments in the 'transitology' and consolidation studies, when it comes to the QoD there 'is not much in terms of research and findings to report' (Munck 2007, 65).

However, two objections can be made to the Munck's argument. Firstly, although the QoD agenda has not been specifically formulated by the researchers before 1990's one can argue that the topic has been present in the literature ever since the beginning of political thought. As the concern of normative politics, the question of the perfect conditions for democracy and criteria for democratic ideal can be found in the writings of more than a few political philosophers and theorists. Many scholars have tackled the topic whenever they wanted to critically asses the quality of the existing democratic regimes while comparing them to the ideals formulated in the normative democratic theories (e.g. Przeworski 1991, Powell 1982, Arendt 1958, Lijphart 1993 Dahl 1971, Rustow 1970, Huntington 1968, Linz and Stepan 1996 and Sartori 1987). As an example, in The Social Contract Rousseau poses a question on what a good government is. Although his discussion is dedicated to various forms of government, and having in mind historical context of his writings it is understandable that democracy is not the only form available for discussion, his work also describes the ideal type of political community (Rousseau (1761) 1988, Book III, Chapter IX). Secondly, the accomplishments of the authors who follow the QoD line of inquiry, cannot be reduced. As it will be demonstrated in the following sections many have attempted to clarify the QoD project, to define the main concepts and operationalize this multidimensional phenomenon so it can be applied in future qualitative and quantitative research (among many see: O'Donnell et al 2004, Altman and Perez-Linan 2001, Schmitter and Karl 1993, Buhlman et. al. 2008, Morlino 2004, Diamond and Morlino 2005),

As an addition, it has to be noted that some authors argue that the research on the QoD is interdisciplinary in its nature. As Andreev (2005) states 'from the long list of social science theories related to the QoD, one can distinguish between different kinds of 'modernization theories" and '.. political culture, civil society, social welfare, market regulation, institution building and the media' (2). Moreover, the increase in number of democracies has enabled social scientist to apply more advanced empirical techniques and develop concepts based on larger number of cases (Andreev 2005).

Nevertheless, if we concentrate only on the recent developments it is possible to identify several streams of research: 1) some scholars are concerned with the theoretical development of the concept (e.g. O'Donnell et al 2004; Altman and Perez-Linan 2001; Schmitter and Karl 1993); 2) others have decided to analyze the specific dimensions or one of the 'partial regimes' of the QoD conceptual amalgam (among many see: Berg-Schlosser 2004, , Rose-Ackerman 1999, Einstadt and Lemarchand 1981); 3) and some have assessed the state of democracy in a particular country (Della Porta et. al. (Italy) 2001, Putnam (Italy) 1994, Fishman (Spain) 2004, The Future of Democracy in Europe Report (2004), Costa Rica and UK National Audit, European Union Democracy Observatory, O'Donnell, Cullell and Iazzeta 2004).

As it was stated at the beginning of this text, the development of the literature in the QoD is a natural addendum to the broader studies in democratization that emerged in the 1970's. Since Southern European and Central and Eastern European countries have been considered as 'consolidated' and began to build their own democratic traditions, concepts and measures developed for the analysis of countries on different levels of democratic development were not useful any more.

However, although some would argue that the 'democratic threshold' has not been unanimously accepted, it is fair to say that the authors dedicated to the QoD do not differ in their recognitions of minimum conditions each country has to satisfy in order to be considered democratic. Most of them follow the tradition of Dahlian minimal conditions.

However, as it will be demonstrated in more detail in the following chapter, although these authors agree that the QoD concept is of a multidimensional nature, their position on which the most relevant or core dimensions are do differ considerably.

Regardless of the importance of the future findings and the concerns with the future of democracies, some authors have been skeptical of the 'QoD meta-level project' (Armbruster 2008, 1; Plattner 2004). In the article *Quality of Democracy in Europe: Soviet Illegitimacy and Negotiated Revolutions of 1989*, Chris Armbruster (2008), attacks the QoD research project for its 'insufficiently comparative both conceptually and historically' nature. In his article he mainly refers to the works of Amartya Sen from 1999, O'Donnell, Cullell and Iazzetta from 2004 and to the collection of essays edited by Diamond and Morlino in 2005. Furthermore, he seems to be agitated by the *Future of Democracy in Europe* report published by the Council of Europe in 2004. His main concern is the 'superiority, ingrained prejudice and cultural stratification'(4) discourse embedded in these works. 'West is the Best' approach, according to the author, is not sufficiently sensitive to the historical differences which can only be assessed by meticulous case-by-case analysis. His recipe is 'conceptual variety' and exploration of 'historical variation' that will not fall into the 'context-of-the-day'(7) narrative.

Although some of the concerns raised by the author seem reasonable, he has not offered a more systematical approach and has not conducted an alternative assessment of the QoD. Moreover, the intention of authors mentioned in the Armbuster's article was not to develop a universal scheme that will deteriorate the importance of progress and contextual specifities of the new democracies in Eastern Europe. As it was noted in the introduction to *The Quality of Democracy*, edited by Diamond and Morlino (2005), motives of their project were following: 'first, that deepening democracy is a moral good, if not an imperative; second, that reforms to improve democratic quality are essential if democracy is to achieve the broad and durable legitimacy that marks consolidation; and third, that long-established democracies must also reform if they are to attend to their own gathering problems of public dissatisfaction and even disillusionment.' (1)

Moreover, even Philippe Schmitter (2003) warns that the inferiority of new democracies is a fallacy that has to be avoided in the QoD discussions. In his own words:'(1) most (but not all) neo-democracies are performing much better than anyone had the right to expect and, in fact, many of them are doing astonishingly well; and (2) most archeo-democracies are not performing as well as is implied by this judgment and, in fact, many are doing much less well than they used to.' (12)

This section discusses the main streams of the QoD studies. Detailed analysis of the QoD conceptual amalgam will be presented in the first section of the second chapter. Since the concepts that will be employed in this research have been studied within different branches of political science, and rarely within the QoD project, second section of this chapter will introduce main approaches to the research on political equality and political participation.

2.2 Political Equality and Political Participation

The connection between equality in political participation as a necessary condition for the achieving ideals of political equality, and QoD has not been sufficiently researched in literature. Although political equality has been identified as one of the core dimensions of QoD, and as the democratic ideal noted by many theorists of modern democracy (in Bühlman et. al. 2008), thorough conceptualization of this notion has been neglected.

As Amartya Sen states 'every normative theory of social arrangement that has at all stood the test of time seems to demand equality of something - something that is regarded as particularly important in that theory' (1980, 1). Sen provides us with the list of authors who analyzed equality within their broader theories. He differentiates *pro-equality*

theorists, like John Rawls (equal liberty and equality in the distribution of "primary goods"), Ronald Dworkin ("treatment as equals," "equality of resources"), Thomas Nagel ("economic equality"), Thomas Scanlon ("equality") and those like Robert Nozick who argued *against* the pursuit of equality. In addition to the list compiled by Sen few more authors must to mentioned: Kai Nielsen in 1986, Peter Unger in 1996, Peter Singer in 1993, Richard Arneson in 1989, Martha Nusbaum in 2000 and Anne Gutmann in 1980.

Moreover, we can trace the debate on equality in the writings of classical political philosophers. For instance, Petr Lom (1999) analyzes the debate on liberty versus equality emerged within the writings of Tocqueville and which are still existing in any normative theory concerned with liberal democracy. As it will be demonstrated in the presentation on the trade-offs between different dimensions of the QoD this debate is still very much present in political theory.

However, the main concern of this paper is neither the general notion of equality that Sen was writing about, nor social and economic equality. Although Sen's 'capabilities approach' as a critique of egalitarian notion of equality as *equality of resources* and *equality of welfare* is a notable theory and may as well be the solution to the problems of egalitarian justice (for more information see Kaufman, 2006) this text a more specified notion of equality is required.

As it will become clearer in the next chapter, most important component of political equality and 'the point of departure' (Verkuilen 2009) for the measurement of political equality is political participation. Studies of political participation have been a prominent topic in political science since the 1970s (Verba, Nie and Kim 1978, Verba Schlozman, Brady, 1995; Verba 1996; Verba and Orren 1985; Verba, Schlozman, and Burns 2001; Milbrath and Goel 1977; Parry, Moyser and Day 1992, Rosenstone and Hansen 1993). How and when do people participate were the first questions asked by social scientists. The

volume of participation, identification of the types of participation and the raising concerns on the decline of voting turnout were analyzed by the pioneers of participation research (Verba, Lehman Schlozman and Brady 1995, Franklin 2004, McDonald and Popkin 2001).

These topics were followed by the work on importance of participation, representation and inequalities in participation. (Lijphart 1997, Citrin, Schickler and Sides 2003, Griffin and Newman 2005, Verba 2003). The influence of the rational choice theory has lead some scientists to assess the assumption of rational voters (among many see Riker and Ordeshook 1968, Meehl 1977). For instance Meehl argues that political and economic decisions cannot be assessed by the same standards. Each one of them involves different traits.

In search of explanations on why do some people get involved in politics more than other, political scientists turned to the socioeconomic attributes of participants and nonparticipants and developed a model of resource based explanations. (Brady et al, 1995, Rosenstone and Hansen 1993). However, social attributes were not offered as the only explanations on why and who participates in politics. For example, the institutional framework has emerged as one of the determinants of political action that has great explanatory power (Bingham-Powell 1986, Jackman 1987, Franklin 2004, Van der Eijk and Oppenhuis 1996).

However, recent attention has been directed towards new forms and typologies of political participation (Li and Marsh 2007 and Norris 2003) (e.g. 'cause-oriented participation' opposed to 'citizen oriented participation' (Dekker and Uslaner 2001) and new explanations of the sources of participation. Classical explanations based on socioeconomic indicators have been replaced or expanded with emphasis on the influence of spatial structure (Tam Cho and Rudolph 2008), social context (McClurg 2003 and Kenny 1992); interest groups (Verba, Schlozman and Brady 1995 and Khatib 2004), social

11

exclusion (Fahmy 2003), protest politics (Norris, Walgrave, and Van Aelst. 2005., Benson and Rochon. 2004., Booth and Seligson. 2005.), social movements (Skocpol 1999, Wright, Taylor and Moghaddam 1990, Chong 1991) and participation within context of social capital (Putnam 2000, Norris 2002, Fiorina 1999).

The detailed overview of the development of the new empirical research and new theoretical models in this field would require more space than is available in this text. However, some notable problems have to be mentioned. First, most research conducted in this field is based on Anglo-American models and cannot be fully applied to the Western and Central and Eastern Europe (different traditions of participation could be the cause of these differences). And second, the research on this topic has been conducted from different research traditions which disabled the possibility of 'systematized and comprehensive research on all types of participation' and has resulted in analysis that is 'fragmented withing different research camps'. (Norris 2002, 1)

The existing measurements of political participation used as indicators either for the democracy, quality of democracy, individual freedom or good governance all have underlying assumptions that political participation can be measured by the extent of universal suffrage, number of nongovernmental organizations, the scope of their membership, voting turnout, or participation as the determinant for party competition (e.g. Vanhanen 2000, Cingranelli and Richards 2004, Bollen 1980, Bertelsmann Transformation Index 2006-2008, Freedom House). Although these measurements are useful and can tell us something about the occurrence and importance of certain type of participation, the importance of the equality of participation among different social groups has not been stressed enough. As this is the case with the existing measures of democracies (Freedom House, Polity, Bertelsmann Transformation Indey, and the index of Vanhanen (Coppedge and Reinicke 1991; Gastil 1991; Vanhanen 1997, 2000, 2003), which are 'too unsubtle to measure the fine but obviously existing differences in the quality of democracy between countries' (Buhlman et al. 2008, 4), the relationship between political equality and political participation cannot be detected with measures indicated above.

This chapter has described main approaches to the research on QoD, political equality and political participation. As this overview does not enable us to make any conclusions about the relationship between these concepts, second chapter will focus on normative and empirical background that emphasizes their linkage.

3. PARTICIPATORY EQUALITY WITHIN THE QUALITY OF DEMOCRACY

Were there people of gods, their government would be democratic. So perfect a government is not for men.

J. J. Rousseau

3.1 Quality of Democracy conceptualization and measurement

Although this text will research a particular component of the Quality of Democracy it is important to start with the existing definitions of democracy and 'quality of democracy'. In a detailed overview of the QoD conceptualization history Andreev (2004) notes that many authors have used the concept without any attempts to define it. The result have been minimalist definitions first introduced by Dahl and taken over by Altman and Perez-Linan in 2001, Coppedge in 1996 and Putnam in 1993 (Andreev 2004). Andreev also states that QoD was not understood as a measurable 'discrete phenomenon', but as a 'continuous development' dependent on many other processes (2).

New research on QoD has moved from the understanding of the notion as nonmeasurable phenomenon and has directed its efforts towards detailed definitions and operationalizations of possible QoD dimensions. However, before providing an overview of the development of QoD concept, one digression has to be made. Any analysis and measurement of the quality of democracy in a certain country cannot be attempted before determining that the country in question is indeed a political democracy. Dahl's definition (1971, 1-7) which included secret balloting, universal adult suffrage, regular elections, partisan competition, associational freedom and executive accountability could be a starting point in determining the minimum requirements before continuing with the 'quality' analysis.

However, the list of the definitional elements of democracy has become longer over time. Universal, adult suffrage; recurring, free, competitive and fair elections; more than one political party; and more than one source of information, for example, are the conditions that Morlino (1998) is referencing to. Moreover, he says that further analysis is necessary to assess the degree to which a country has achieved the freedom, equality and control as the main pillars of democracy. As these modifications of Dahl's definitions are useful in eliminating the electoral democracies (Diamond 1999) or defective democracies (Merkel 1999) from the QoD analysis, they will be used to determine the existence of political democracy and preliminary case selection. They are best summarized by Diamond and Morlino in 2004: 'At a minimum, democracy requires: 1) universal, adult suffrage; 2) recurring, free, competitive and fair elections; 3) more than one serious political party; and 4) alternative sources of information. If elections are to be truly meaningful, free and fair, there must be some degree of civil and political freedom beyond the electoral arena, permitting citizens to articulate and organize around their political beliefs and interests. In addition, formal democratic institutions should be sovereign in fact, that is they should not be constrained by elites or external powers that are not directly or indirectly accountable to the people.'(3).

Definitions of QoD differ in dimensions that are considered to be the core of the concept. Bühlmann et. al. (2008) have provided us with the most comprehensive operationalization of QoD. These authors develop a comprehensive list of indicators of components and subcomponents of the Quality in Democracy. However, since the first step in any conceptualization is to specify the meaning of the concept and than identify what 'attributes are deemed to be constitutive of a concept' (Verkuilen 2009, 20), it is unclear why do they do not provide a clear definition of QoD.

For them, the democratic system is a combination, or an equilibrium between the normative values of freedom, equality and the control. However, they do not emphasize the best solution; the reader is left to determine which equilibrium can be regarded as of higher relevance. These principles are achieved through the interrelationship of five partial regimes constructing 'embedded democracy'. These five regimes represent the 'root concept' of democracy barometer. In this case the type of democracy depends upon the relationship between these regimes. High quality democracy is not the one that has all of the requirements fully satisfied, but the one that keeps the balance between liberty, equality and control.

However, as Andreev (2005, 5) notes 'much more lies ahead...especially the production of comparative qualitative and quantitative indicators to evaluate the QoD in various settings'. Since many of the subcomponents in their text contain indicators which overlap and that the organization of these indicators on the level of abstraction is not clearly formulated, application of these indicators for the assessment of the particular country has to be conducted carefully. In a recently published book, Measuring Democracy, edited by Gerardo L. Munck (2009), Verkuilen emphasizes the danger of conflation and redundancy commonly found in many existing indicators of democracy. Any task of conceptualization has to take into consideration two basic rules of conceptual logic: a) 'less abstract attributes' have to be 'placed on the proper branch of the conceptual tree' and b) 'attributes at the same level of abstraction should tap into mutually exclusive aspects of the attribute at the immediately superior level of abstraction' (22)

Morlino (2004) has stated the most plausible differentiation between the elements of quality in the QoD definition. For Morlino (2004) QoD is composed of three different dimensions of quality: 1) quality in terms of procedure, 2) quality in terms of contents and 3) quality in terms of results. Here we can also see the multidimensionality

of the QoD concept. From this differentiation he extracts the following definition of 'good democracy': 'I consider a quality or good democracy to be one presenting a stable institutional structure that realizes the liberty and equality of citizens through the legitimate and correct functioning of its institutions and mechanisms.'(12).

As it was stated before, the complexity of the QoD conceptual puzzle is recognized by all of the authors working on this topic. Bühlmann et. al. tail their indicators from the most general democratic principles. Equality, freedom and control are the core principles they derive from the works of Locke, Montesquieu, Hobbes and Rousseau. As it was said before, Morlino's definition of a 'good democracy' also assumes the same principles. If we follow the literature, we can see that the similar conclusions were reached by Diamond and Morlino (2005) who identified five conceptual dimensions—freedom, rule of law, vertical accountability, responsiveness, and equality¹ which 'fully constitute the quality of democracy' (2). Even though the framework outlined by Diamond and Morlino does not include only three core concepts, it does overlap with the ones indicated by Bühlmann et. al and Morlino in his previous writings.

The tradeoff between dimensions emphasized by Bühlmann et. al. is also indicated by Diamond and Morlino (2005). Although slightly distinct dimensions, these are also interconnected: 'In identifying these different linkages, we suggest that democratic quality can be thought of as a system, in which improvement in one dimension can have diffuse benefits for others (and vice versa). At the same time however, there are sometimes tradeoffs between the different dimensions of democratic quality, and it is impossible to achieve each of them to the maximum degree.'(2).

However, there are some authors who offer a different approach to the conceptualization of the QoD. Baker and Koesel (2001) following the advice of Coppege

¹ Participation, competition and horizontal accountablity also included in the later analysis.

and Reinicke, introduce the Poliarchy Plus Scale. They 'precise' and 'widen' the scope of Dahl's polyarchy with the same intention as the authors who are working on the QoD have. 'By widening the scope of the scale, we mean that a third set of attributes must be added to complement the core defining attributes of polyarchy. These added features will facilitate better measures and understanding of polyarchy.' – these features are distinguished within three main attributes: contestation, inclusiveness, and quality of governance (5). However, this approach neglects the importance of normative principles. If we only expand the range of attributes from two very unspecific concepts of inclusion and contestation the chance of omitting important attributes is higher. Moreover, even if Baker's and Koesel's approach is valid, the reasons for the inclusion of the quality of governance as the third core dimension of the QoD and its relationship to the other two dimensions have not been clearly argumented.

Surely, the dimensions mentioned above and the approaches the to conceptualization of the QoD are not the only ones. Since the intention of this paper is to analyze only one dimension, the next section will focus only on political equality. As it was promised before the definition of the QoD which is appropriate for the purposes of this research will now be presented: Quality or good democracy is the one that provides its citizens with a high degree of freedom, political equality, and popular control over public policies and policy makers through the legitimate and lawful functioning of stable institutions. (Diamond and Morlino 2005, 4)

This definition is slightly different from the definition provided by Morlino earlier. It moves down the ladder of abstraction and emphasizes the importance of political equality -contrary to the general notion of equality from the earlier definition and high degree of freedom - not just 'freedom' which seems like an unattainable goal even normatively. However, at the same time it includes more than equality. Furthermore, as the third requirement for the QoD popular control will not be analyzed in this text. As it was emphasized earlier political equality is understood as a precondition for all other conditions of QoD. Political equality is in the hart of as Diamond and Morlino argue 'quality in terms of content' and political control is understood as a defining feature of democracy.

3.2 What is Political Equality?

Political equality is an important ideal. While it is true that we will not achieve it soon, this is no reason not to continue trying.

Sidney Verba (2003)

From the definitions used in the literature it is evident that each one of them presumes the principle of political equality. Equality is the main democratic principle in Merkel's, Morlino's, and even Dahl's definitions. However, what is the relationship between political equality in particular and quality of democracy? Is political equality the underlying principle of democracy? If so, why is it mentioned so often but never properly conceptualized?

As Rueshemeyer (2004) states in the beginning of his seminal article 'Quality of Democracy: Addressing Inequality': 'Equality points to one of the critical dimensions along which the quality of democracy varies. What is at stake is political equality, not the equality in all the areas of social life.'(1) Political equality is the core concept and normative ideal that this text will analyze. There has not been a sufficient empirical or normative concern with the problem of political equality. The concept is acknowledged as a part of democratic theory and as a moral good, but little research has been conducted in order to see if political equality is an ideal that is set to high and what are the differences among countries in the levels of the achievement of that ideal. Moreover, simplistic understanding of political equality, political equally being equal voting rights, would not be useful for the purposes of this research. If equal voting rights were the only requirement for political equality, than each country that is being analyzed would easily satisfy this criterion since it would have to be had to be a political democracy. No comparative analysis would be possible and the QoD concept would lose substance. The analysis of effective political equality will have to go beyond normative ideals and offer a definition that will be useful for empirical analysis.

In the *Democracy Barometer*, although talking about 'equality' and not only political equality, Bühlmann and others define equality as following: 'Therefore, equality means formally equal treatment of all citizens by the state (legal egalitarianism), equal rights to participate in politics and having all preferences equally weighted.' (9) This definition is clearly a definition of 'political equality' since it does not include social and economic equality, however it is still not precise enough for our purposes.

In the 'A concept of political equality: A Post-Dahl analysis' Alan Ware analyses common understandings of the political equality notions and defends Dahl's theory of political equality. As the detailed description of the mentioned work is not relevant for this paper only some general conclusions will be presented. The concept has to be clearly divided into political equality in certain political resources and political equality in the 'distribution of those benefits over which government is claimed to have responsibility' (Ware 2006, 393). Resource based equality is usually connected with the 'equal opportunity' ideal and is regarded as the second-best solution. However, the resource equality can be understood differently. As Ware clearly shows, it is difficult to determine what the boundaries of politically relevant resources are. For libertarians and conservatives, 'one person one vote' means political equality and this interpretation 'narrows' the political field. Resource, not outcome based political equality, is the concept which comes closer to the proper definition of political equality necessary for this research. However, the concept of the quality of democracy has not developed independently of the concepts of Quality of Regime, Quality of Society and the Quality of Life (Andreev 2004). The relationship between these concepts, especially between the QoD and the Quality of Society requires a broader understanding of the political equality, as essential subdimension, in terms of resources. The political field is not, and cannot be restricted to the 'one person-one vote' model the same as the types of political activities cannot be restricted to voting rights. Social structure of a community is not outside of the political field, and following the ideas of Peter Bachrach (1969) and Rueshemeyer (2004), social and economic inequalities are thereby linked to political inequalities.

Third definition of political equality was provided by Robert Dahl in 2006, in a short book dedicated to filling in the gap in political equality studies. He states that underachievements of full political equality are characteristics of a fundamental law that governs human nature and society. (51). Moreover, he argues that 'political resources, knowledge, skills and incentives are always and everywhere distributed unequally' (51). Among political resources he includes the variety of means that 'a person can use to influence the behavior of other persons'. Some of them are money, time, understanding, jobs and social standing. It is wise to adopt his realist approach to political equality. He states that no political system will satisfy the criteria of a perfect – ideal democracy. The same logic applies to political equality. It is an ideal, or as Dahl defines it: 'a desirable goal, one probably not perfectly achievable in practice, but a standard to which we ought to aspire, and against which we can measure the good or value of what has been achieved, what actually exists'(8). However, Dahl also states that the increase in political equality during the last decades has resulted in the substantial reduction of political inequalities. Although his assessment applies to the United States only, his logic can be applied to Europe. And even though some would consider this argument as tautological, we have to have in mind that the extension of the right to vote has caused political equality to come closer to the ideal model in many countries.

Furthermore, as with other authors previously mentioned, Dahl also does not offer a definition of political equality that would enable us with measurement standards. He emphasizes the importance of full participation, associational autonomy, political and civil rights but does not solve the problem that he himself finds disturbing: 'we now face a further troublesome deficiency: we have no generally accepted names for political systems that fall between two ends of the scale.' (81). The lack in cardinal measures of political equality, and the inability to compare two countries precisely, according to Dahl, leaves us with only one solution, to rely on ordinal measures based on subjective judgments.

In order to begin the research on political equality it is important to summarize the elements of political participation found in literature and to offer a systematic definition of this important concept. The ideal of political equality would have to include procedural guarantees of civil and political rights, meaning not only 'written' constitutional frameworks that enable full participation of all citizens either through electoral mechanisms or non-electoral participation (channels of intermediate associations), but also an effective use of these rights. The requirement of effective use of political and civil rights goes beyond the minimal conditions of democratic political process. It can be applied in the assessment of the quality of democracy in a certain country. And as an instrumental feature of political equality, full participation has to be enabled.

Since the existence of civil and political rights is a minimum of conditions that every country has to fulfill in order to be considered democratic this dimension of political equality will not be separately assessed in the empirical analysis which will be conducted on four selected countries. However, the ideal of full participation, which will be elaborated in the next section, has not been regarded as a 'democratic minimum' and will be thoroughly analyzed in this paper.

To sum up, this chapter has critically assessed several approaches in the QoD conceptualization. QoD definition introduced by Diamond and Morlino in 2005 has been adopted as the 'background concept' (Adcock and Collier 2001, 530). Furthermore, the section on political equality has assessed different definitional explanations of this relevant principle and the relationship between political equality and QoD has been clarified. Since political equality can be understood as 'latent variable' and therefore unobservable if we do not clarify its content and main attributes, next chapter will introduce political participation as 'observable variable' (Verkuilen 2009, 23) and single most important attribute of political equality.

4. MEASURING INEQUALITY IN POLITICAL PARTICIPATION

I never could believe that Providence had sent a few men into the world, ready booted and spurred to ride, and millions ready saddled and bridled to be ridden.

Richard Rumbold²

4.1 Participatory Representation

Questions of representation, as Brady et al. emphasize are 'long central to democratic theory' and cannot be neglected in research on the QoD. As it is said in the introduction, representativeness of participatory public is the focus of this text. If the ideal of higher political equality is to be achieved, 'participatory input has to accurately reflect the politically relevant characteristics of the public' (Brady et. al. 1995, 161).

In the introduction of *The Quality of Democracy* (2005), Diamond and Morlino investigate the relationship between QoD and other relevant concepts and confirm the importance of this normative principle: 'With regard to participation, democratic quality is high when we in fact observe extensive citizen participation not only through voting but in the life of political parties and civil society organizations, in the discussion of public policy issues, in communicating with and demanding accountability from elected representatives, in monitoring the conduct of public office-holders, and in direct engagement with public issues at the local community level. Participation in these respects is intimately related to political equality, because, even if formal rights of participation are upheld for all, inequalities in political resources can make it much more difficult for lower-status individuals to exercise their democratic rights of participation.' (p.10)

Any analysis that wants to assess the state of political participation cannot ignore other relevant channels of influence that are found outside electoral participation. Although many researchers dedicate their work to the inquiry of the patterns and causes of changes in the voting behavior this paper, following the standards in participation research set by Rosenstone

² Quoted in Macaulay's History of England, Chapter I, 2007

and Hansen in 1993 and Brady et. al. in 1995, is concerned not only with electoral activism but also with the array of participatory activities present in Europe,.

Moreover, as Charles Lindbloom wrote: 'Control over governmental decisions is shared so that the preferences of no one citizen are weighted more heavily than the preferences of any other citizen'. (1953, 41) Verba clearly follows this idea in 2004 when he argues that citizen participation is 'thus, at the heart of political equality. Through their activity citizens in a democracy seek to control who will hold public office and to influence what the government does.' (663)

The effective participation is the additional criterion to the narrowly understood concept of political equality. Moreover, 'the effective use of the political right to take part in politics is stratified in a way that closely corresponds to lines of social stratification such as gender, income, or education' (Gallego 2001, 1) and it is possible that the systematic inequalities (large degree of participatory distortion) will skew active population towards specific groups and systemic inequalities in social stratification will be reflected in the political process, creating a vicious circle (Verba 2004).

Although there are many definitions of political participation³, for the purposes of this research we will accept the narrow definition provided by Brady et.al. in 1995, where 'Participation is a mechanism for representation,' and 'a means by which governing officials are informed of the preferences and the needs of the public and are induced to respond to those preferences and needs.'(1)

It is evident that each type of political activity has different power of influence on decision makers, however as Brady et al. emphasize: 'The ability of participatory input to turn up the political heat depends upon many factors, including the position, security, resources, and

 $^{^{3}}$ In the paper 'Political participation and three theories of democracy' Jan Teorell distinguishes three types of political participation. 1)Responsive model participation – an attempt to influence those who have say in government; 2) Participatory democrats model - participation is to have a say in government oneself; and 3) deliberative model - defines participation as a way of finding out what to say.

psychological makeup of the public official at whom it is aimed.' (45). It is still impossible to measure the volume of pressure on policy makers that each type of activity or even one act of an individual carries. One of the partial solutions to this conundrum is offered in *Voice and Equality*. Measuring the extent of each activity should get us closer to the amount of pressure each activity has on policymakers. Volume is measured as the multiplication of participatory input. Since the metrics are different in each type of participation Brady et. al. emphasize that the comparison across activities is difficult but that does not stop them in calculating the volume of activity in different types of participation. For instance, they measure the frequency of contacts, the time or money invested in political campaigns or the number of people who demonstrated.

In the above mentioned work, Verba, Lehman-Schlozman and Brady, distinguish several acts of political participation. The main distinction is made between voluntary and non-voluntary participation. Voluntary participation is part of a broader ideal of political equality and can be affected by the background inequalities. For example, it seems meaningless to measure voting turnout in the countries where voting is obligatory. However the debate on the consequences of strict procedural guarantees and obligations in electoral participation has been thoroughly analyzed by others. The authors divide voluntary participation⁴ into political and non-political. Any activity that can 'directly or indirectly' have influence on government's actions is considered to be political. Furthermore, the authors distinguish several acts/modes of participation⁵:

1. Voting

Regular voting in presidential elections

Always vote in local elections

2. Campaign

⁵ First used in: Verba and Nie, *Participation in America* (1967)

Persuade others how to vote Actively work for a party or a candidate Attend political meetings or rallies Contribute money to a party or a candidate Member of political club

3. Contact

Contact local official: issue-based Contact state or national official: issue-based Contact local official: particularized Contact state or national official: particularized

4. Community

Work with others on local problem

Active membership in community problem solving organization

Form a group to help solve local problem

As it will be described in detail in the following chapter, nine types of political participations, will be included in the empirical analysis. However, some of the types indicated by Verba et. al. are not meaningful when applied to the European experience as they are distinctively American civic traditions (e.g. bumper-stickers supporting a party during the campaign, for more details see Norris 2001). Moreover, participation in demonstrations as one type of political participation for which the interest has increased in the last few decades (Norris et.al. 2003), has not been given enough attention in the work of Brady and others, and the importance of this type of activity in Europe today has lead to the inclusion of this type in the analysis.

4.1.1 Descriptive representation

Full political participation is an ideal that no country will ever be able to fulfill. There are many theorists who think that this ideal would be a 'democratic nightmare' if achieved (e.g. Verba 2004). However, unless we agree upon the level of equality in political participation which has to be reached by every high-quality democracy, comparing the situation in each country with an ideal of full participatory equality, is the best choice. Otherwise it is impossible to inquire about the trade-offs between participatory equality and other core democratic principles. Ideal types are the best way to start finding the appropriate measures.

To make a descriptive demographic representation, as concluded by many researchers (Wolfinger and Rosenstone 1980 and Bartels 2002), is not a realistic goal. There is no such consensus in democratic theory that would require the elected representatives to reflect the structure of the population. The resemblance of the representatives, or elected officials, to the public is impossible for several reasons:' elected assemblies – even big, unwieldy ones – are finite in size and unchanging in composition for a fixed term, so that they are inevitably limited in how closely the members can resemble the public – if that were deemed desirable.' (Brady et. al., 1995, 168)

Rosenstone and Hansen follow similar arguments from the literature (Collins and Swabey, 1937 and Fenichel and Pitkin 1967, quoted in Rosenstone and Hansen 1993) to justify the assumption that the participatory public should reflect the population: 'Understanding whether participants are representative of the population is a different task from assessing whether a legislator represents its constituency. In the case of a legislator, part of the task of understanding representation would surely include an examination of what the agent has done with the grant of authority form her constituents. In the case of political participation, the population does not select the participants; the participants are not agents for the rest of the population; there are no mechanisms of accountability' (292).

4.1.2 New application of participatory distortion

The measure of participatory inequality – participatory distortion – will be adapted from the work of Brady et. al. They define participatory distortion as 'the circumstance in which political activists do not reflect accurately the larger population from which they come with respect to some politically relevant characteristic'. (178). The consequences of distortion are disproportionate 'voices' of groups that are more or less active.

According to the same authors there are two important circumstances that change the effect of distortion in a group. First, 'the degree of participatory distortion depends on how far it is from the mean of the population on whatever shared politically relevant characteristic defines it.'(178). And secondly, the size of the group has implications on the degree of distortion. If the size of the group constitutes of small portions of the population, the impact of the distortion will not have a large influence on the overall distortion. However, as the large group will be closer to the mean of the population. However, one thing has to be added to the Brady et. al. conclusion the smaller the group the harder it will be to detect the distortion patterns. More on this in the next section, when the empirical examples will be presented. And at the end, the distortion can go both ways, it can be negative (underrepresentation) and positive (overrepresentation).

Participatory distortion is a concept that relates to the inequalities found in participant public according to their specific socio-demographic or economic attributes. First measure of participatory distortion is developed by Rosenstone and Hansen in the study published in 1993, already mentioned before. They developed two measures to assess the bias in representation. First measure, 'representation ratio' is conducted by comparing 'the group's share of the participants to its share of the population as a whole: RATIOi = PARTi / POPi' (291). The representation ratio was calculated for the groups according the highest level of education,

income and age. However, this research also partitioned the population into 'mutually exhaustive and exclusive groups' in order to asses he 'partial effect of each determinant on the individual probability of taking part, again holding the other causes constant'(Rosenstone and Hansen 1993, 291). These groups, potential causes of participation were divided into three subgroups of dependent variables: a) resources, which included education, external efficacy, internal efficacy, age, gender, race; b) social involvement which included unemployed, employed, income, joining with others to work on national and/or local problems; c) mobilization by political leaders which included being contacted by a party or a candidate, a new senator and a new representative and d) mobilization around issues which included the share of the individuals from the survey who had school-age children.

Representation ratio can tell us only which groups are over or under represented, and cannot reveal the amount of inequality, so other measure of inequality was introduced by Rosenstone and Hansen (1993)– index of equality (EQ). In order to asses the inequalities across groups the representation ratio is first calculated for two separate subgroups within the group that is the object of measurement. Since the simplest way to assess the EQ is to compare the two subgroups which are at the ends of distribution (e.g. low income and high income), the formula for EQ is as follows: EQ= RATIOb (group at the bottom of the distribution) / RATIOt (group at the top of the distribution). The interpretation of the EQ is simple. 'When the groups at the bottom and the top are represented among the participants in proportion to their share of the amount by which the group at the bottom of the continuum is underrepresented compared to the group at the top' (294).

In 1995, Brady et. al. introduce several measures of distortion. The simplest measure introduced by them is measure of difference. Difference measure of participatory distortion (Dc=E(C|a) - E(C)) for any characteristic 'is very appealing because it directly compares the
average characteristics communicated to the decision makers by activists [E(CIa)] with the average characteristic in the population [E(C)].' (573.) However, as the authors themselves mention this measure depends upon the lower and upper bounds of the population characteristics.

Second measure applied by Brady et. al. in *Voice and Equality* is a measure of variations in the level or the amount of activity for different types of participation that can be graphically compared on several demographic or socio-economic characteristics. Although this measure may suggest inequality patterns, it cannot be used for comparison of one attribute across different types of activity.

However, the representation ratio, first developed by Rosenstone and Hansen, mentioned above, was adopted by Brady et al and somewhat modified. As the measure that enables comparisons across types of participation and characteristics (attributes) at the same time representation ratio will be used in the second part of the empirical analysis. To summarize the benefits of the representation ratio it is best to provide a clear example. Table 4.1.1 will illustrate a possible situation:

	Population	Demonstrators
Population	100	30
Young people	20	3

Table 4.1.1 Example data for the calculation of representation ration

Source: compiled by the author

We can use representation ratio to see whether demonstrators are representative of the whole population according to their age, or whether young people demonstrate as much as all activists in the population. In the first situation the representation ratio R would be equal to the average activity level for the characteristic we are interested in divided by the percentage of the activists in the population. In the second situation the representation ratio of the young people would be equal to the average characteristic level for the activity we are interested in divided by the share of young people in the population. However, the ratios calculated from the first or the second method would be the same. The ratio of young people who demonstrate (0,1)divided by the ratio of the young people in the population (0,2) equals 0,5. The ratio of demonstrators among young people (0,15) divided by the ratio of demonstrators in the population (0,3) also equals 0,5. If the number of young demonstrators would be 6 than the representation ratio would be equal to 1, it would mean that young people are equally represented in the participant public.

Furthermore, Brady et. al. emphasize that 'the only problem with the representation ratio is that it ranges asymmetrically going from zero to infinity with equality of representation when R(AC)=1.'(575). They suggest that the Logged Representation Scale would be a more suitable measure since it 'ranges symmetrically from minus infinity to plus infinity with equality of representation at zero' (pp 576). The LRS is calculated by taking the logarithm value of representation ratio result (LRS=log[R]), the negative number shows under-representation and the positive over-representation. However, since it is reasonable to expect that the LRS values will be quite different from zero, it is important to decide on the threshold value that would indicate significant under- and overrepresentation. More on this topic in the analysis section.

This section has provided an overview of the theoretical justifications of participatory representation and several measures of participatory distortion from the literature were presented. Representation ratio applied by Brady et.al. in *Voice and Equality* is described in details since the results in the next chapter will be presented as Logged Representation Scale. Next section will discuss main criteria for case selection and the selection of variables for the analysis.

4.2 Case selection and variables

As the main intention of this paper is to see the differences in patterns of political participation among countries with different lengths of democratic experience, four countries have been selected. Two with a longer democratic experience, Netherlands and Ireland and two new democracies that emerged in the 1989/90 wave of democratization in CEE, Poland and Slovenia. As the intention of this proposal, as mentioned in the introduction, is not to provide any causal explanations, countries have been chosen only on the basis of the longevity of their democratic regimes and they had to fulfill the minimum requirements for a political democracy.

As noted in the introduction, the representation of the participants will be conducted regarding several politically relevant characteristics. As the range of politically relevant characteristics is quite large, the characteristics chosen for this analysis will include the basic variables used by Brady et. al. The reason for this decision is the possibility of a later comparison of the study conducted in the USA and the findings on our four European countries. Furthermore, these socio-demographic attributes are also selected according to their usage in the baseline literature on political participation in Europe (Norris 2001, Dekker 2001, Deth 1997, Fahmy 2003, Jackman 1987, Kostadinova 2003, LeDuc et al 1996, Mcclurg 2003, Milbrath 1966, Putnam 1991 and 2001, Verba et. al. 1995).

The variables which are most usually connected to the types of participation, and recognized as 'pertinent to political conflict' (Brady et. al. 171) are gender, age, education and income. Although reasons for inclusion of these characteristics could have been applied to other relevant attributes like occupation, religiousness or ethnicity, it is impossible to include them all. As this study will cover four countries and nine types of participation, other socio-demographic variables although all potentially relevant had to be excluded.

As for the types of participation, as it was stated before, the act of voting is not 'the only means of citizen input' (Dalton 1988, 35). Therefore several acts of participation were selected for the analysis. As Dalton argues, many cross-national studies explored several types of conventional participation. It was mentioned before that the most thorough analysis was conducted by Brady and others, although the modes of activity were theoretically developed by Verba in 1978. Since Brady et. al.'s civic participation study was tailed for the purposes of their research proposal; it was possible to formulate questions concerning different types of participation. However, from the Module III of the European Social Survey⁶, it was possible to select only these participatory variables:

B11 VOTE voted last national election

B13 CONTPLT contacted politician or government official last 12 months

B14 WRKPRTY worked in political party or action group last 12 months

B15 WRKORG worked in another organization or association last 12 months

B16 BADGE worn or displayed campaign badge/sticker last 12 months

B17 SGNPTIT signed petition last 12 months

B18 PBLDMN taken part in lawful public demonstration last 12 months

B21 MMBPRTY member of political party

F30 MBTRU member of trade union or similar organization

and these socio-demographic and economic attributes:

GNDR gender

AGE age of respondent, calculated

F6 EDULVL highest level of education

F32 HINCTNT household's total net income, all sources

⁶ R Jowell and the Central Co-ordinating Team, European Social Survey 2006/2007:Technical Report, London: Centre for Comparative Social Surveys, City University (2007)

As it was briefly mentioned above, these variables will be used to measure inequality in different forms of participation by different individual characteristics. Table 4.2.1 below will illustrate the intention of the empirical analysis.

Country Types of participation										
Attributes		Voting	Contacting	Working party	Working organization	Wearing	Petitioning	Demonstrating	Membership party	Membership organization
Sex	Male									
эсл	Female					2				
Age	Young									
	Lower middle age									
	Upper middle age									
<i>w</i>	Old					<u></u>				J
	Low									
Education	Medium									
	High									
	Low					2				
T	Lower middle		-							
TUCOME	Upper middle									
	High					<u>)</u>				0

 Table 4.2.1 Illustration of the measurement process

Source: compiled by the author

4.3 Analysis

Empirical analysis is conducted on the European Social Survey, Module III dataset from 2006. As the primary goal of this paper is to assess the state of political equality – by measuring participatory distortion, in every country and compare the results found among the countries selected the harmonization of the variables was crucial. ESS database was chosen because creators of the database made a lot of effort on the harmonization of socio-economic and demographic variables (Hoffmeyer-Zlotnik 2004 and Rydland, Arnesen and Østensen 2008). The application of standardized questions on income and education, according to the ISO recommendations has made any cross-country analysis much easier.

Separate databases were extracted from the ESS website for Netherlands, Ireland, Poland and Slovenia. Since the topic of this paper is political participation individuals who did not reach the voting age threshold were excluded from each of the databases. Age span of cases ranges from 18 to 65 + years, since the voting age legal threshold for each country included is 18 years.

Moreover, since sample designs applied in countries that participated in the ESS were not precise and could not 'give all individuals in the population aged 15+ precisely the same chance of selection', ESS recommend the weighting of data before the analysis. As design weight corrects these slightly different probabilities of selection, thereby making the sample more representative of a 'true' sample of individuals aged 15+ in each country' data was weighted with *dweight*⁷ variable (design weight). (ESS3 - 2006 Documentation Report).

The ESS structured questionnaires were conducted in Netherlands from 16th of September 2006 till 18th of March 2007, in Ireland from 14th of September 2006 till 31st of August 2007, in Slovenia from 18th of October 2006 till 4th of December 2006 and in Poland from 2nd of October 2006 till 13th of December 2006. The questions and the variables from the ESS database are summarized in the *Appendix A*.

In order to determine the existence of participatory distortion (over-representation or under-representation), the variables had to be recoded. The population was partitioned according to the nine types of participation and four politically relevant characteristics. Nine types of participation: voting, contacting a politician, work for a political party, work for a union or other organization, wearing a badge or a campaign button, taking part in a lawful demonstrations, signing a petition, membership in a political party and membership in a union or other organization, were recoded into participants (1) and non-participants (0). System or user missing cases were listwise excluded from the analysis.

Politically relevant characteristics: gender, age, education and income were also recoded. Since the intention of this analysis was to see the difference between politically

⁷ The *Design* weights are computed: In general design weights were computed for each country as follows: a) w = 1/(PROB1*...*PROBk) is a nx1 vector of weights; k depends on the number of stages of the sampling design and b) All weights were rescaled in a way that the sum of the final weights equals n, i.e. Rescaled weights = n*w/sum(w). (ESS3 Documentation Report, pp. 9)

relevant characteristics population had to be partitioned differently than in ESS Module 3 database. Larger groups were created so that the difference could be more visible. Moreover, the literature generally indicates that significant differences could be found between anchoring groups within categories (e.g. young and old, low levels and high levels of education and low and high income groups). *Gender* was recoded into two separate variables, *Male* (male 1 and others 0) and *Female* (female 1 and others 0). *Age* was recoded into larger portions of the population (for original coding see Table 2. in the Appendix). Age groups are: *young* (from 18 to 29,99 years), *lower middle age* (from 30 to 49,99 years), *upper middle age* (from 50 to 64,99 years) and *old* (65 years and higher). Each of the subgroups of age was then recoded into dummy variables.

Highest level of education⁸ was recoded into three separate groups: *lower education* (not completed primary education and primary or first stage of basic education), *middle level of education* (lower secondary or second stage of basic, upper secondary and post secondary, non-tertiary education) and *high level of education* (first stage of tertiary and second stage of tertiary). Each of the subgroups of education was then recoded into dummy variables.

Household's total net income was also recoded. Since the ESS Module documentation provides the field workers with three different calculations of income (weekly, monthly and annual income) one of them had to be selected. The interpretation of the results will be given in annual income figures in Euros. The income variable was recoded as following (Table 4.3.1):

	Table 4.3.1	Income	variable	coding	scheme
--	--------------------	--------	----------	--------	--------

New variable	ESS variable
Low income	Less than 1800
	1800 - 3600
	3600 - 6000

⁸ In the ESS 3, 2006, highest level of education was standardized according to the slightly modified ISCED-97.

Lower middle income	6000 -12000
	12000 -18000
	18000 - 24000
Upper middle income	24000 - 30000
	30000 - 36000
	36000 - 60000
High income	60000 - 90000
	90000 -120000
	120000 +

Source: compiled by the author

In order to determine the existence of participatory distortion in each country and group, confidence intervals around the mean were calculated in the SPSS for each of the characteristics (attributes) separately within the population and for each of the characteristics on every type of participation. For example, the mean of the young people in the population and confidence intervals around that mean were compared with the confidence intervals around the mean of the young people who participate. If the confidence intervals do not overlap, there is a significant distortion. If the lower bound value of the confidence interval of the mean of young people in the population is higher than the upper bound of the confidence interval around the mean of young people who participate, we can conclude that the young people who participate are 'under-represented' in the population. On the other side, if the upper bound value of the confidence interval of the mean of young people who participate, we can conclude that the young people who participate, we can conclude that the young people who participate, we can conclude that the upper bound value of the confidence interval of the mean of young people who participate, we can conclude that the young people who participate, we can conclude that the young people who participate, we can conclude that the young people who participate, we can conclude that the young people who participate, we can conclude that the young people who participate, we can conclude that the young people who participate, we can conclude that the young people who participate are 'over-represented' in the population.

This procedure described above is the first step in finding the patterns of participatory distortion. Since the comparison of confidence intervals enables us to find statistically significant participatory distortions this measure was first applied. Second step was to calculate the representation ratios and LRS for each country. LRS calculations will be used to compare the level of inequality in participation *among* countries selected and the confidence intervals will be used to interpret general patterns of participatory distortion in each of the countries *separately*.

5. Participatory bias in Netherlands, Ireland, Poland and Slovenia

5.1 Volume of political participation

Before presenting the findings on the patterns of participatory distortion found in Netherlands, Ireland, Poland and Slovenia it is important to analyze the volume of each type of political participation in these countries. As it was mentioned before, the size of the participatory group affects the findings on participatory distortion. As the number of cases in the group reduces, confidence intervals around the mean become larger. If the confidence intervals are too large no conclusions can be made on the difference between the mean of the population and the mean of that particular group. In the Figure 5.1. we can see the volume of nine types of participation calculated from the ESS database.

Figure 5.1 Politically active individuals across types of participation in Ireland, Netherlands, Poland and Slovenia



Source: compiled by the author from the ESS 3 Database

As it was expected voting is the most spread type of political activity. Furthermore, turnout rates found in ESS do not match the rates found on IDEA website (see Table 5.1.1 bellow). The differences between rates calculated by IDEA and those found in the ESS database just confirm the thesis on over-reporting in the case of surveys in relevant literature (Belli et. al. 2001; Belli et. al. 1999, Belli et. al. 2006, Bernstein et. al. 2001; Brian et. al. 1986). However, as there is no independent measure available for each type of participatory activity employed in this analysis it is impossible to validate the numbers that are found in the ESS 3 survey. Moreover, as Brady et. al. also note: 'Because other forms of activity are both less frequent than voting and less firmly attaches to notions of civic duty, it is possible that the problem is less severe for other activities than it is for voting'. (50)

Table 5.1.1 Turnout rates for Irel	land, Netherlands, I	Poland and Sloveni	a in the years
prior to ESS3			
	IDEA		

	ESS	Turnout	VAP	Year
Ireland	71,3	67.0%	68.9%	2006
Netherlands	83,7	80.4%	77.5%	2006
Poland	67,2	40.6%	40.9%	2005
Slovenia	75,5	60.6%	61.1%	2004

Source: compiled by the author from the ESS 3 Database and IDEA Turnout database

Figure 5.1 shows that the work for a political party, wearing a badge or a campaign sticker, demonstrating and membership in political parties are all activities that are not widely spread across population of Netherlands, Ireland, Slovenia and Poland. Moreover, it is evident that higher percentage of individuals from Netherlands participates in most types of participation, following Ireland and Slovenia. Poland can be seen as the country in which nonelectoral channels of political participation are not spread. In each of the non-electoral type of participation there is no more than 7% of population who answered that they participate.

Furthermore, if we compare the findings of Brady et al in 1995 with the data presented here several conclusions can be made. Firstly, much more Americans (48 %⁹) are affiliated with political organizations than individuals taken from ESS the sample. As it can be seen from the Figure 5.1. membership in political parties does not come close to the 10% of population. However, having in mind the noted trend on the decrease in party membership and party alignment in literature these results are not surprising. Furthermore, in the Voice and Equality authors compare the volume of activity in the States with the data extracted from the Political Action Survey in 1979 in Netherlands, United Kingdom, West Germany and Austria. Since only Netherlands is being analyzed in this paper, it is interesting to observe that the share of population that reported to have contacted a politician increased from 11% in 1979 to 14,8 % in 2006. This increase however should be carefully interpreted since the data collection methods are very different. Furthermore, contacting a politician as an important and 'information rich' activity that requires much personal initiative and effort is much more present among American public $(34\%^{10})$ than in these four countries.

5.2 Over-representation and under-representation

This section will summarize the results of the analysis conducted on nine types of participation across four socio-demographic and economic attributes for four countries. The results will first be presented for each attribute separately and the LRS calculations, as dimensionless measure of distortion will be applied to compare the differences found among countries. Subsection Analysis described the method applied to calculate participatory distortion. Comparison of confidence

⁹ These percentages are taken from *Voice and Equality*, Figure 3.1, page 51. ¹⁰ Note 8, ibid.

intervals around the mean for the group share in the population and in the participants for every country is presented in the Appendix C. Tables below this section (Table 5..2.1 -Table 5.2.4) present the distortions found in summarized form. 1 marks the group that is overrepresented and -1 the group that is under-represented in the population. Key can be found under the tables.

5.2.1 Gender Gap

Measure of participatory distortion was used to see whether the proportion of people with the same attribute within nine types of participation is same as the proportion of people within the population. The interpretation will be conducted by describing the differences found within each category selected for the analysis and for each country.

Gender differences in political participation have been emphasized and analyzed by many authors. For instance, *The private roots of public action* book, written by Burns, Lehman Schlozman and Verba in 2001 focuses only on gender gap in political participation. Since gender is recognized as relevant political category and it is a composed of two groups that have clear identity and different standpoints not only in the United States but also in Europe, it is important to see whether members of these groups are equally represented across nine types of political participation in selected countries.

As it can be seen in the summarized tables on under- and overrepresentation presented at the end of this section, Ireland is the only country where women are underrepresented only in one type of political participation – membership in organizations or trade unions. Furthermore, women are underrepresented within party members and those who contact the government officials in Poland. In Slovenia women are underrepresented in three types of participation.

Furthermore, more participatory distortions were found among female and male participants in Netherlands than in other countries. Male are over-represented among those who contacted the politician, worked for a party, demonstrated, were members of a party and members of a organization or a union. Sequently women were under-represented in all of those activities.

This is rather surprising. In 2004, Ingelhart, Norris and Welzel have analyzed the relationship between gender equality, cultural change and democracy. Since they measured gender equality with the percentage of women in parliament their results cannot be directly generalized to this specific situation. However, several conclusion from that text can be used to identify Poland and Slovenia, neo-democracies and furthermore Catholic countries, as unlikely to achieve the levels of gender equality that are substantially closer to the ideal than in Netherlands.

It has been previously noted that literature on political participation has emphasized the importance of socio-demographic and economic characteristic of participant groups. In the 2007 Aina Gallego, using the logistic regression, found that the age and education emerge as the most important causes of distortion in 22 European countries. Moreover, she found that gender is less clearly related to participation. However, as it can be seen in the tables below gender is found to be significant attribute when it comes to determining the presence of inequality in participation.

Similar conclusions were reached by Brady et. al. in 'Voice and Equality'. Gender gap in political participation was recognized as existent in the United States even before Brady et.al.(1995). However, several critics pointed that these studies overstated the differences among man and women and that the conceptualization of political activity was biased toward these conclusions. Women specialized in different types of activities than man and those types of activities were excluded from prior research. Acknowledging the criticism, Brady et. al. expanded the types of activities analyzed, applied more advanced statistical techniques and have also found that women are less likely to participate even when the analysis is conducted on more types of political participation. To sum up, women are under-represented in Ireland (membership in the organization or unions), Netherlands (contacting, working for a party, demonstrating, membership in parties and organizations), Slovenia (contacting, working for a party and organization) and in Poland (membership in parties and contacting).

5.2.2 Age and Political Participation

Gallego's results from 2007, where age and education 'appear as the most widespread structural determinants of political participation'(13), only confirm the same conclusions reached by many other researchers on political participation (e.g. Parry et al. 1992; Norris, Walgrave, and Van Aelst 2005). These conclusions, although aimed at explaining the patterns of participation, indicate that age is a category that cannot be neglected.

If we observe the patterns of distortion found in Ireland, Netherlands, Poland and Slovenia it is evident that equal participation across age groups is not fulfilled in any of the countries. Furthermore, age is the category with significantly more distortions than gender. Significant distortions were found for two age groups: young and old. Furthermore, old people are more disadvantaged than the young people in all of the types of participation.

If we check the patterns of distortion in neo-democracies, Poland and Slovenia, we can see that old people are under-represented in more types of participation in Slovenia than in Poland, moreover there are three types of participatory activity where this groups are underrepresented in both countries: petitioning, wearing a badge and membership in organizations or trade unions.

Young people are unequally represented within membership of the organizations or trade unions in Poland and within voters and members of the organizations in Slovenia. However, overrepresentation of young people is present only in Slovenia. Young people are more likely than all other age groups, to demonstrate and sign a petition. From the two countries with longer democratic tradition, Ireland again shows better prospects. Old people are under-represented only among petitioners and young people among voters and organization or union members. Netherlands is the only country were lower middle age group (from 30 to 49,99 years) is underrepresented. This group unequally participates among party members.

Since all of the distortions can be seen from the tables bellow it is now more important to compare this results with the results found in other similar studies. The underrepresentation of young people was expected since many authors have detected this trend earlier (for detailed overview of this topic see Forbrig 2005). However, it has to be noted that the underrepresentation of young people in certain types of activities does not necessarily imply the disillusionment argument. Channels of participation that attract youth are often quite different than types of participation that attract other age groups. As it can be seen from the data in the tables bellow, youth are equally represented in several types of activities across all countries analyzed: working for a party, wearing a badge, petitioning, demonstrating and party membership. However, it has to be noted that distortion of old people in the participant public is more common in neo than in older democracies.

5.2.3 Highest level of education and political participation

As one of the most studied determinants of political participation, education has been considered as the most relevant factor in explanations why do some people participate more than others (Rosenstone and Hansen 1993; Verba and Nie 1972; Verba, Schlozman, and Brady 1995; Wolfinger and Rosenstone 1980). As Pippa Norris (2002) summarizes: 'Education is widely believed to facilitate the acquisition of civic skills, competences, and knowledge that lead towards political participation. Education is thought to furnish citizens with a wide variety of assets that may be useful in politics, as in life, such as the cognitive skills to make sense of current events in the mass media, the verbal and written skills essential to political communication, and the basic understanding of civics and public affairs that facilitates further campaign learning.'(Chapter V, 4)

However, in the article *Reconsidering the Effects of Education on Political Participation*, Ken and Palmer (2008) argue that education is a 'proxy for preadult experiences and influences, not a cause of political participation'(612). Whether this is the right conclusion or not, it is not relevant for this text. These works all indicate that education is a politically relevant characteristic and it is still relevant to investigate participatory distortions among groups with different level of education.

By comparing the confidence intervals around the means for three categories within the variable of education (low, medium and high level of education) it has been found that the low educated individuals are the most under-represented category of all of the categories analysed. Poland and Netherlands show disturbing patterns of participatory distortion for groups with low education. In Poland these groups are under-represented in almost all types of political participation (exception are members of political party). Furthermore, in these two countries those with high education are overrepresented in more than three types of participation.

Groups with medium level of education are under-represented in countries with longer democratic tradition while data from Slovenia and Poland does not reveal similar patterns. Furthermore, distortions found in Slovenia and Ireland, although not positive are not so spread across all types of participation as in Netherlands and Poland.

Interesting, petitioning is found to be the type of activity where people with low education are the least likely to participate in all of the countries. Since this is the type of activity that requires small amount of resources (time, money, skills) and has a potential of extorting high amount of pressure on decision makers it is alarming that this particular group is underrepresented.

As it was mentioned several times, Gallego has found that education is one of the (along with age) most spread explanatory factors of political participation. She states that even though education has been regarded as not relevant for European experiences, her findings show

different patterns. It seems that educational biases are not only 'American problem' as it was considered by Norris (2002). Norris states that although Brady et. al. have found severe distortions connected with educational attainment, studies conducted in European countries do not lead to same conclusions for Europe. However, most of these studies was conducted only on electoral behavior (e.g. voting turnout), where distortions are the least expected compared to other types of participation.

To conclude, from the data found in the ESS3 and calculated for Netherlands, Ireland, Poland and Slovenia educational bias is still present in Europe, and not only in countries with shorter but also with longer democratic experience.

5.2.4 Participation gap among income groups

The implications of unequal participatory distortion of income groups cannot be stressed enough. As Brady et. al. emphasize ' myriad of government policies – ranging from taxes to welfare to labor relations to the minimum wage-affect income groups differently'(187). If any of income groups is under-represented the information communicated to the decision makers through different channels of participation will be skewed towards those groups who are overrepresented.

In *Voice and Equality*, Brady et. al. found that the differences between income groups are less distinctive in voting and more in other types of activities. 'There is a participation gap among income groups with respect to contacting...','...the poor are less likely to attend protest' and the overrepresentation is 'most pronounced when it comes to campaign contributions' (191). If we check the summary tables of participatory distortion in Ireland, Netherlands, Poland and Slovenia we can see that most distortions are found belong to those with low income. Furthermore, those with low income are more disadvantaged in neo-democracies than in Netherlands and Ireland.

Furthermore, patterns of distortion among those who contact the government official are not the same in all of the countries analyzed. In Ireland and Slovenia, participatory distortion on this type of participation exists for those with low income, in Netherlands for those with lower middle level of household income and in Poland these distortions are not found. Moreover, no differences are found among those who demonstrate. In all of the countries analyzed income gap among demonstrators is not so evident.

However, due to the specific problems with income reporting in the surveys these conclusions have to be carefully assessed. For instance if we look at the summary table for Poland we can see that several cells are marked with blue color. Since none of the individuals with upper middle or high income reported to work in a party and being a member of political party, and no one with high income has demonstrated among the respondents, these cells were left blank.¹¹ One way to interpret these findings is to say that members of these groups are highly under-represented within these types of participation. However, as the sample of the ESS 3 is not without its problems and the recoding of the variables may have caused the bias in certain groups, the results in this cells can be interpreted differently. If we check the frequencies of the income variable in Poland it is evident that only 0.9% of the respondents have high income and only 2% have upper middle income (frequencies are available in Appendix). Moreover, answers of 17% of respondents are missing.

To sum up, it is evident that patterns of participatory distortion exist in every country analyzed. Ireland has the least pronounced inequality patterns. Since each of the countries analyzed has quite different patterns of distortion, for instance they are more commonly found on one attribute in one country than in another, it is hard to evaluate the overall status of participatory representation in these countries. Comparison of the confidence intervals around the means has revealed significant distortions but cannot tell us nothing about their size. In the next section another measure of participatory distortion, Logged Representation Scale will be calculated for the same cases.

¹¹ Same problem will appear in the LRS calculations. In the Tables in Apendices D and E cells that are marked red are left blank because of this issue.

	Ireland	Voting	Contacting	Working party	Working organization	Wearing	Petitioning	Demonstrating	Membership party	Membership organization
Sor	Male	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1
Jex	Female	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	-1
	Young	-1	0	0	-1	0	0	0	0	0
A.g.o	Lower middle age	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Age	Upper middle age	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1
	Old	0	0	0	0	0	-1	0	0	0
	Low	0	0	0	-1	0	-1	0	0	0
Education	Medium	0	-1	0	-1	0	-1	0	0	0
	High	0	0	0	1	0	1	0	0	0
Income	Low	0	-1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
	Lower middle	0	0	0	-1	0	-1	0	0	0
mcome	Upper middle	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
	High	0	0	0	1	0	1	0	0	0

Table 5.2.1 Under and over-representation in Ireland

	Under-represented
	Over-represented
**	None participated
	Everybody participated

Source: calculated by the author from the ESS3 database

Table 5.2.2 Under and over-representation in Netherlands

	Netherlands		Voting	Contacting	Working party	Working organization	Wearing	Petitioning	Demonstrating	Membership party	Membership organization
Sor	Male		0	1	1	0	0	0	1	1	1
Sex	Female		0	-1	-1	0	0	0	-1	-1	-1
	Young		0	-1	0	0	0	0	0	0	-1
100	Lower middle age		0	1	0	0	0	0	0	-1	0
Aye	Upper middle age	on	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1
	Old	ecti	0	-1	0	0	0	-1	0	1	-1
	Low	Coll	0	-1	-1	-1	0	-1	0	0	0
Education	Medium	D (0	-1	-1	0	-1	-1	0	0	0
	High	J eJ	0	1	1	1	0	1	0	0	0
Income	Low	CEU	0	0	0	0	1	0	0	**	0
	Lower middle		0	-1	-1	0	1	0	0	0	0
	Upper middle		0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
	High		0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0

Source: calculated by the author from the ESS3 database

	Po la nd	Voting	Contacting	Working party	Working organization	Wearing	Petitioning	Demonstrating	Membership party	Membership organization
Sox	Male	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	1	0
Sex	Female	0	-1	0	0	0	0	0	-1	0
	Young	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	-1
100	Lower middle age	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1
Age	Upper middle age	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
	Old	0	0	0	0	-1	-1	0	0	-1
Education	Low	0	-1	-1	-1	-1	-1	-1	0	-1
	Medium	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
	High	0	0	0	1	1	1	0	0	1
Income	Low	0	0	0	-1	0	-1	0	0	-1
	Lower middle	0	0	0	1	0	1	0	0	1
	Upper middle	0	0	**	0	0	0	0	**	0
	High	0	0	**	0	0	0	**	**	0

Table 5.2.3 Under and over-representation in Poland

Source: calculated by the author from the ESS3 database

Table 5.2.4 Under and over-representation in Slovenia

	Slovenia	Voting	Contacting	Working party	Working organization	Wearing	Petitioning	Demonstrating	Membership party	Membership organization
Sox	Male	0	1	1	1	0	0	0	0	0
Jex	Female	0	-1	-1	-1	0	0	0	0	0
	Young	-1	0	0	0	0	1	1	0	-1
٨٥٥	Lower middle age	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	1
Age	Upper middle age	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
	Old	0	-1	0	0	-1	-1	-1	0	-1
Education	Low	0	-1	0	0	0	-1	-1	0	0
	Medium	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
	High	0	1	0	0	0	1	0	0	0
Income	Low g	0	-1	0	0	0	-1	-1	0	-1
	Lower middle	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
	Upper middle	0	0	0	0	1	1	0	0	0
	High Q	**	0	**	**	**	0	0	**	0

Source: calculated by the author from the ESS3 database

5.2.5 Logged Representation Scale

As it was discussed before in this paper, representation ratio was developed by Rosenstone and Hansen and later modified by Brady et. al. Since it was recommended by Brady et.al. to use LRS and not just representation ratio, this measure was also calculated as a second step in this analysis. The benefits of the LRS can best be summarized by the authors themselves: 'Because the LRS is dimensionless number like correlation coefficient or beta weight, one value can be compared with another.' (Brady et al., pp 184).

As mentioned before, the LRS is calculated by taking the logarithm value out of representation ratio result (LRS=log[R]). The negative number shows under-representation and the positive over-representation. Representation ratio was determined for each of the groups partitioned according to the attributes and types of participation. For example, the share of the highly educated demonstrators was divided with the share of highly educated respondents in the whole population. The logarithm of that ratio was then calculated.

Since the LRS score of 0.30 indicates that the activists are twice as likely to have a characteristics as members of a population as a whole, and LRS score of -0.30 indicates the opposite, 0.3 and -0.3 were taken as thresholds of under- or over-representation because of the easier interpretation.

It is important to note that as different measure is applied, LRS results show different patterns of distortion than the measure applied in the previous section. However, the LRS results can be used to compare the levels of distortion among countries. LRS results for each country are presented in the *Appendix D*.

Furthermore, LRS results for each country will not be separately interpreted. Since the intention of this analysis was to compare the levels of participatory distortion in older and new European democracies certain modifications have been made to the LRS calculations so that the appropriate data aggregation can be applied. Because participatory distortion exists in

both directions simply summing them up would cause the results of the LRS to cancel each other. In order to avoid this LRS values were transformed into absolute values. After that, absolute LRS values of subgroups were multiplied by the of each subgroups share in the population. This was done so the size of the group would be taken into consideration in the final calculation. For example, if the LRS value of the people with low income among those who singed the petition was 0,54 this number was multiplied by the share of the same subgroup in the population. Furthermore, overall participatory distortion for every type of participation was calculated by summing up all of the results on each type of participation. Detailed results can be seen in the Appendix E. Summary of the results can be seen in the Table 5.2.5.

	Ireland	Netherlands	Slovenia	Poland
Voting	0,09	0,08	0,08	0,07
Contacting	0,15	0,45	0,45	0,45
Working party	0,35	0,70	0,37	0,32
Working organization	0,51	0,27	0,58	0,54
Wearing	0,31	0,32	0,53	0,58
Petitioning	0,43	0,25	0,57	0,74
Demonstrating	0,27	0,40	0,52	0,55
Membership party	0,36	0,35	0,24	0,76
Membership				
organization	0,36	0,41	0,50	0,74

Table 5.2.5 Overall participatory distortion for each type of participation

Source: calculated by the author from ESS 3 Database

It is evident that distortion is *least* pronounced in voting. However, it is hard to determine which type of activity has the *most unequal* patterns of participatory distortion. It can also be seen that Ireland and Netherlands, as old democracies, have lower levels of distortion in most of the types of activities. In Figure 5.2, presented below, these patterns can be detected more clearly.



Figure 5.2 Overall participatory distortion per type of participation

Moreover, if we calculate the sum of the overall participatory distortion that was first calculated for each type of participation, these countries can be aligned as follows:

- 1. Ireland 2,83
- 2. Netherlands 3,21
- 3. Slovenia 3,85
- 4. Poland 4,75

However, the question remains whether these data are eligible for aggregation and what can a number like 3,85 reveal about political equality in Slovenia. Ireland can be regarded as the country with least disproportionate participatory public and therefore the one that has achieved the highest level of political equality among the countries analyzed. On the other side, with the score of 4,75, situation in Poland is far from ideal. We could say that this score is 'pointing to the matters of serious concern' (Munck 2009).

Furthermore, these numbers can only be used to rank the countries according to the results of distortion measure. Since the scores go from 0 to infinity it is impossible to provide an exact interpretation. For example, we cannot say that Poland is twice as unequal compared

to Ireland. Still, as it is said before, participatory distortion increases with the increase of the aggregate measure.

6. CONCLUSION

This text has focused on the question *Do new and old democracies differ in their patterns of participatory distortion?* in order to shed some light on the common assumption that older democracies are better than neo-democracies. Furthermore, the general need for the development of measures that would escape pitfalls of minimalist definitions, has been identified as the leading force of this research. Quality of Democracy project has provided a conceptual framework and the motivation for the research on political equality.

In order to answer the research question and to contribute to the efforts in the QoD studies this thesis has been organized into five chapters. After the introductory chapter, second chapter has provided an overview of the state of the field in the studies on Quality of Democracy. Furthermore, it has introduced main research agendas on political equality and political participation and identified the research gap in these fields. Since these concepts were studied within different theoretical and empirical 'families' second chapter has discussed the relationship among these findings.

Third chapter discussed the meaning of political equality within QoD project and has identified political participation, as constituent attribute of political equality. Since the ideal of political equality assumes equality in political participation, participatory representation was chosen as the primary and instrumental measure of political equality.

Theoretical justifications of participatory representation were presented in the introductory part of the fourth chapter. It was concluded that equal participatory representation fits the broader ideals of the Quality of Democracy. 'Voice and Equality', as the most important study on participatory representation by Brady, Lechman Schlozman and Verba from 1995 was also presented in this chapter. Furthermore, since the same authors have introduced several measures on participatory distortions these tools were described in details.

Comparison of the confidence intervals around the means and Logged Representation Scale were introduced as measurement tools.

Results of the comparison of confidence intervals in the fifth chapter have revealed several interesting patterns of participatory distortion: women are found to be underrepresented in Ireland (membership in the organization or unions), Netherlands (contacting, working for a party, demonstrating, membership in parties and organizations), Slovenia (contacting, working for a party and organization) and in Poland (membership in parties and contacting). Age is found to be the category with significantly more distortions than gender. Significant distortions were found for two age groups: young and old. Moreover, old people are more disadvantaged than the young people in all of the types of participation; by comparing the confidence intervals around the means for three categories within the variable of education (low, medium and high level of education) it has been found that the low educated individuals are the most under-represented category of all of the categories analyzed. Poland and Netherlands show pronounced patterns of participatory distortion for groups with low education; Low income groups have been found as the most disadvantaged among most of the types of participation. Furthermore, those with low income are more disadvantaged in neo-democracies than in Netherlands and Ireland.

Final section of the fifth chapter was dedicated to the comparison of the countries selected. Since the comparison of the confidence intervals around the means could not tell us anything about the size of distortions found, Logged Representation Scale was calculated. Certain modifications have been made to the LRS calculations so that the appropriate data aggregation can be applied. In addition, overall participatory distortion for every type of participation was calculated by summing up all of the results on each type of participation. Ireland was found to be the country with least disproportionate participatory public and therefore the one that has achieved the highest level of political equality among the countries

analyzed. On the other side, with the score of 4,75, the level of distortion in Poland has to be taken with serious concern.

Since the intention of this text was not to provide any explanations on the sources of the patterns found but only to assess the state of political equality in these countries only several future recommendations will be made. First of all, this analysis was based on only four cases and any stronger conclusions on the state of political equality in Europe cannot be made unless we expand the number of cases analyzed on all European countries. Secondly, the selection of politically relevant characteristics was focused only on socio-demographic and economic attributes, since there are many relevant groups that fit into Brady et. al's criterion for 'politically relevant' it is also necessary to expand the analysis on other potentially disadvantageous identifiers as occupation, language, ethnicity.

Moreover, even if the intention of this paper was purely descriptive, any other work directed towards investigation on political participation has to focus on potential sources of these distortions. Many possible explanations have already been analyzed in the literature. However, few of them were dedicated to specific European experiences and even more to the experiences of neo-democracies. From the results presented above it is evident that the patterns of distortion are not same in these four countries and it can be concluded that older democracies do show better results.

Underlining attempt behind this text was to show that democratic ideals can be investigated empirically. Moreover, not only empirical research but also further research on Quality of Democracy has to broaden its field of interest and include other important principles that have filled the lines of political theory. This text has been written with the ambition to contribute further to the QoD literature. It has been shown that the status of political equality can be measured through participatory representation. Hopefully these results reveal more

58

information on the differences between Ireland, Netherlands, Poland and Slovenia in the fulfillment of the ideal of equal political participation.

7. Appendices

7.1 Appendix A – Descriptive statistics for the variables included in the analysis

Ireland

	-	Frequency	Percent	Valid Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	Yes	1283	71,3	77,0	77,0
	No	384	21,3	23,0	100,0
	Total	1667	92,6	100,0	
Missing	Don't know	8	,5		
N	No answer	6	,3		
	System	118	6,6		
	Total	133	7,4		
Total		1800	100,0		

TABLE 7.1.1 Voted last national election

TABLE 7.1.2 Contacted politician or government official last 12 months

		Frequency	Percent	Valid Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	Yes	389	21,6	23,4	23,4
	No	1277	70,9	76,6	100,0
	Total	1666	92,6	100,0	
Missing	Don't know	6	,3		
	No answer	10	,5		
	System	118	6,6		
	Total	134	7,4		
Total		1800	100,0		

	-	Frequency	Percent	Valid Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	Yes	65	3,6	3,9	3,9
	No	1600	88,9	96,1	100,0
	Total	1665	92,5	100,0	
Missing	Don't know	7	,4		
	No answer	10	,6		
	System	118	6,6		
	Total	135	7,5		
Total		1800	100,0		

TABLE 7.1.3 Worked in political party or action group last 12 months

TABLE 7.1.4 Worked in another organisation or association last 12 months

					Cumulative
	_	Frequency	Percent	Valid Percent	Percent
Valid	Yes	212	11,8	12,8	12,8
	No	1445	80,3	87,2	100,0
	Total	1656	92,0	100,0	
Missing	Don't know	9	,5		
	No answer	16	,9		
	System	118	6,6		
	Total	144	8,0		
Total		1800	100,0		

TABLE 7.1.5 Worn or displayed campaign badge/sticker last 12 months

		Frequency	Percent	Valid Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	Yes	114	6,3	6,9	6,9
	No	1546	85,9	93,1	100,0
	Total	1660	92,2	100,0	
Missing	Don't know	6	,3		
	No answer	15	,8		
	System	118	6,6		
	Total	140	7,8		
Total		1800	100,0		

	_	Frequency	Percent	Valid Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	Yes	388	21,5	23,4	23,4
	No	1268	70,4	76,6	100,0
	Total	1655	92,0	100,0	
Missing	Don't know	12	,7		
	No answer	14	,8		
	System	118	6,6		
	Total	145	8,0		
Total		1800	100,0		

TABLE 7.1.6 Signed petition last 12 months

TABLE 7.1.7 Taken part in lawful public demonstration last 12 months

		Frequency	Percent	Valid Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	Yes	76	4,2	4,6	4,6
	No	1582	87,9	95,4	100,0
	Total	1659	92,1	100,0	
Missing	Don't know	5	,3		
	No answer	18	1,0		
	System	118	6,6		
	Total	141	7,9		
Total		1800	100,0		

TABLE 7.1.8 Member of political party

		Frequency	Percent	Valid Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	Yes	72	4,0	4,3	4,3
	No	1596	88,7	95,7	100,0
	Total	1668	92,7	100,0	
Missing	Don't know	6	,3		
	No answer	8	,4		
	System	118	6,6		
	Total	132	7,3		
Total		1800	100,0		

TABLE 7.1.9 Gender

	-	Frequency	Percent	Valid Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	Male	757	42,0	46,6	46,6
	Female	866	48,1	53,4	100,0
	Total	1623	90,2	100,0	
Missing	No answer	59	3,3		
	System	118	6,6		
	Total	177	9,8		
Total		1800	100,0		

TABLE 7.1.10 Age

		Frequency	Percent	Valid Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	1,00	268	14,9	15,9	15,9
	2,00	638	35,5	38,0	53,9
	3,00	354	19,7	21,1	75,0
	4,00	421	23,4	25,0	100,0
	Total	1682	93,4	100,0	
Missing	System	118	6,6		
Total		1800	100,0		

TABLE 7.1.11 Education

	-	Fraguanay	Porcont	Valid Porcont	Cumulative
		Frequency	Feiceni	Vallu Feicent	Feiceni
Valid	1,0	320	17,8	19,4	19,4
	2,0	668	37,1	40,4	59,8
	3,0	664	36,9	40,2	100,0
	Total	1652	91,8	100,0	
Missing	System	148	8,2		
Total		1800	100,0		

TABLE 7.1.12 Income

			Cumulative
Frequency	Percent	Valid Percent	Percent

Valid	1,00	64	3,5	5,0	5,0
	2,00	406	22,6	31,9	36,9
	3,00	544	30,2	42,7	79,6
	4,00	259	14,4	20,4	100,0
	Total	1273	70,7	100,0	
Missing	System	527	29,3		
Total		1800	100,0		

Netherlands

TABLE 7.1.13 Voted last national election

		Frequency	Percent	Valid Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	Yes	1463	83,7	84,4	84,4
	No	271	15,5	15,6	100,0
	Total	1734	99,2	100,0	
Missing	Refusal	1	,0		
	Don't know	13	,7		
	Total	13	,8		
Total		1748	100,0		

TABLE 7.1.14 Contacted politician or government official last 12 months

		Frequency	Percent	Valid Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	Yes	259	14,8	14,8	14,8
	No	1487	85,1	85,2	100,0
	Total	1746	99,9	100,0	
Missing	Don't know	2	,1		
Total		1748	100,0		

TABLE 7.1.15 Worked in political party or action group last 12 months

					Cumulative
		Frequency	Percent	Valid Percent	Percent
Valid	Yes	70	4,0	4,0	4,0
	No	1674	95,8	96,0	100,0

	Total	1744	99,8	100,0	
Missing	Don't know	4	,2		
Total		1748	100,0		

TABLE 7.1.16 Worked in another organization or association last 12 months

		Frequency	Percent	Valid Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	Yes	434	24,8	24,9	24,9
	No	1310	74,9	75,1	100,0
	Total	1744	99,8	100,0	
Missing	Don't know	4	,2		
Total		1748	100,0		

TABLE 7.1.17 Worn or displayed campaign badge/sticker last 12 months

		Frequency	Percent	Valid Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	Yes	66	3,8	3,8	3,8
	No	1678	96,0	96,2	100,0
	Total	1744	99,8	100,0	
Missing	Don't know	4	,2		
Total		1748	100,0		

TABLE 7.1.18 Signed petition last 12 months

		Frequency	Percent	Valid Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	Yes	361	20,6	20,7	20,7
	No	1379	78,9	79,3	100,0
	Total	1740	99,6	100,0	
Missing	Don't know	8	,4		
Total		1748	100,0		

TABLE 7.1.19 Taken part in lawful public demonstration last 12 months

					Cumulative
		Frequency	Percent	Valid Percent	Percent
Valid	Yes	53	3,0	3,0	3,0

	No	1691	96,7	97,0	100,0
	Total	1743	99,8	100,0	
Missing	Don't know	4	,2		
Total		1748	100,0		

TABLE 7.1.20 Member of trade union or similar organization

		Froquonov	Porcont	Valid Parcent	Cumulative
	-	Frequency	Percent	valiu Feicent	Percent
Valid	Yes, currently	338	19,3	19,4	19,4
	Yes, previously	201	11,5	11,5	30,9
	No	1203	68,8	69,1	100,0
	Total	1742	99,7	100,0	
Missing	Refusal	1	,0		
	Don't know	5	,3		
	Total	6	,3		
Total		1748	100,0		

TABLE 7.1.21 Member of political party

		Frequency	Percent	Valid Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	Yes	100	5,7	5,7	5,7
	No	1643	94,0	94,3	100,0
	Total	1743	99,7	100,0	
Missing	Refusal	2	,1		
	Don't know	3	,2		
	Total	5	,3		
Total		1748	100,0		

TABLE 7.1.22 Gender

		Frequency	Percent	Valid Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	Male	837	47,9	47,9	47,9
	Female	910	52,1	52,1	100,0
	Total	1748	100,0	100,0	
TABLE 7.1.23 Age

		0			
		Frequency	Percent	Valid Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	1,00	219	12,5	12,5	12,5
	2,00	731	41,8	41,8	54,4
	3,00	487	27,9	27,9	82,2
	4,00	311	17,8	17,8	100,0
	Total	1748	100,0	100,0	

TABLE 7.1.24 Education

		Frequency	Percent	Valid Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	1,00	160	9,1	9,1	9,1
	2,00	1148	65,7	65,8	74,9
	3,00	438	25,1	25,1	100,0
	Total	1746	99,9	100,0	
Missing	System	2	,1		
Total		1748	100,0		

TABLE 7.1.25 Income

		Frequency	Percent	Valid Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	1,00	54	3,1	3,5	3,5
	2,00	516	29,5	33,5	37,0
	3,00	820	46,9	53,2	90,2
	4,00	152	8,7	9,8	100,0
	Total	1541	88,2	100,0	
Missing	System	207	11,8		
Total		1748	100,0		

Poland

TABLE 7.1.26 Voted last national election

			Cumulative
Frequency	Percent	Valid Percent	Percent

Valid	Yes	1061	67,2	67,6	67,6
	No	509	32,3	32,4	100,0
	Total	1570	99,5	100,0	
Missing	Don't know	7	,4		
	No answer	1	,1		
	Total	8	,5		
Total		1579	100,0		

TABLE 7.1.27 Contacted politician or government official last 12 months

					Cumulative
		Frequency	Percent	Valid Percent	Percent
Valid	Yes	103	6,5	6,6	6,6
	No	1472	93,3	93,4	100,0
	Total	1576	99,8	100,0	
Missing	Don't know	3	,2		
Total		1579	100,0		

TABLE 7.1.28 Worked in political party or action group last 12 months

		Frequency	Percent	Valid Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	Yes	28	1,8	1,8	1,8
	No	1549	98,1	98,2	100,0
	Total	1577	99,9	100,0	
Missing	Don't know	1	,1		
	No answer	1	,1		
	Total	2	,1		
Total		1579	100,0		

TABLE 7.1.29 Worked in another organization or association last 12 months

		Frequency	Percent	Valid Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	Yes	70	4,4	4,4	4,4
	No	1507	95,5	95,6	100,0
	Total	1577	99,9	100,0	
Missing	Don't know	1	,1		
	No answer	1	,1		

Total	2	,1	
Total	1579	100,0	

TABLE 7.1.30 Worn or displayed campaign badge/sticker last 12 months

		Frequency	Percent	Valid Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	Yes	38	2,4	2,4	2,4
	No	1538	97,5	97,6	100,0
	Total	1577	99,9	100,0	
Missing	Don't know	1	,1		
	No answer	1	,1		
	Total	2	,1		
Total		1579	100,0		

TABLE 7.1.31 Signed petition last 12 months

		Frequency	Percent	Valid Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	Yes	86	5,5	5,5	5,5
	No	1487	94,2	94,5	100,0
	Total	1573	99,7	100,0	
Missing	Don't know	2	,1		
	No answer	3	,2		
	Total	5	,3		
Total		1579	100,0		

TABLE 7.1.32 Taken part in lawful public demonstration last 12 months

		Frequency	Percent	Valid Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	Yes	20	1,3	1,3	1,3
	No	1555	98,5	98,7	100,0
	Total	1575	99,8	100,0	
Missing	Don't know	1	,1		
	No answer	2	,1		
	Total	3	,2		

		Frequency	Percent	Valid Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	Yes	20	1,3	1,3	1,3
	No	1555	98,5	98,7	100,0
	Total	1575	99,8	100,0	
Missing	Don't know	1	,1		
	No answer	2	,1		
	Total	3	,2		
Total		1579	100,0		

TABLE 7.1.33 Member of trade union or similar organization

		Frequency	Percent	Valid Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	Yes, currently	99	6,3	6,3	6,3
	Yes, previously	357	22,6	22,7	29,0
	No	1115	70,7	71,0	100,0
	Total	1572	99,6	100,0	
Missing	Refusal	2	,1		
	Don't know	5	,3		
	Total	7	,4		
Total		1579	100,0		

TABLE 7.1.34 Member of political party

		Frequency	Percent	Valid Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	Yes	18	1,2	1,2	1,2
	No	1560	98,8	98,8	100,0
	Total	1579	100,0	100,0	

TABLE 7.1.35 Gender

		Frequency	Percent	Valid Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	Male	745	47,2	47,2	47,2
	Female	833	52,8	52,8	100,0

	Frequency	Percent	Valid Percent	Cumulative Percent
Male	745	47,2	47,2	47,2
Female	833	52,8	52,8	100,0
Total	1579	100,0	100,0	

TABLE 7.1.36 Age

		Frequency	Percent	Valid Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	1,00	353	22,4	22,4	22,4
	2,00	549	34,8	34,8	57,2
	3,00	399	25,3	25,3	82,4
	4,00	278	17,6	17,6	100,0
	Total	1579	100,0	100,0	

TABLE 7.1.37 Education

		Frequency	Percent	Valid Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	1,00	368	23,3	23,4	23,4
	2,00	1015	64,3	64,6	88,0
	3,00	188	11,9	12,0	100,0
	Total	1572	99,6	100,0	
Missing	System	7	,4		
Total		1579	100,0		

TABLE 7.1.38 Income

		Frequency	Percent	Valid Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	1,00	728	46,1	55,5	55,5
	2,00	537	34,0	41,0	96,5
	3,00	31	2,0	2,4	98,9
	4,00	14	,9	1,1	100,0
	Total	1310	83,0	100,0	
Missing	System	269	17,0		
Total		1579	100,0		

Slovenia

		Frequency	Percent	Valid Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	Yes	1024	75,5	78,0	78,0
	No	288	21,2	22,0	100,0
	Total	1312	96,8	100,0	
Missing	Don't know	44	3,2		
Total		1356	100,0		

TABLE 7.1.40 Contacted politician or government official last 12 months

		Frequency	Percent	Valid Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	Yes	214	15,8	15,8	15,8
	No	1141	84,1	84,2	100,0
	Total	1355	99,9	100,0	
Missing	Don't know	1	,1		
Total		1356	100,0		

TABLE 7.1.41 Worked in political party or action group last 12 months

		Frequency	Percent	Valid Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	Yes	52	3,8	3,8	3,8
	No	1303	96,1	96,2	100,0
u	Total	1355	99,9	100,0	
Missing	Don't know	1	,1		
Total		1356	100,0		

TABLE 7.1.42 Worked in another organization or association last 12 months

	-	Frequency	Percent	Valid Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	Yes	34	2,5	2,5	2,5
	No	1319	97,3	97,5	100,0
	Total	1353	99,8	100,0	

Missing Don't know	3	,2	
Total	1356	100,0	

TABLE 7.1.43 Worn or displayed campaign badge/sticker last 12 months

		Frequency	Percent	Valid Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	Yes	43	3,2	3,2	3,2
	No	1311	96,7	96,8	100,0
	Total	1354	99,9	100,0	
Missing	Don't know	2	,1		
Total		1356	100,0		

TABLE 7.1.44 Signed petition last 12 months

	-	Frequency	Percent	Valid Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	Yes	189	13,9	14,0	14,0
	No	1161	85,6	86,0	100,0
	Total	1350	99,6	100,0	
Missing	Don't know	6	,4		
Total		1356	100,0		

TABLE 7.1.45 Taken part in lawful public demonstration last 12 months

		Frequency	Percent	Valid Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	Yes	47	3,5	3,5	3,5
	No	1307	96,4	96,5	100,0
	Total	1354	99,9	100,0	
Missing	Don't know	2	,1		
Total		1356	100,0		

TABLE 7.1.46 Member of trade union or similar organization

					Cumulative
		Frequency	Percent	Valid Percent	Percent
Valid	Yes, currently	247	18,2	18,4	18,4
	Yes, previously	505	37,2	37,6	56,0

	No	592	43,7	44,0	100,0
	Total	1344	99,1	100,0	
Missing	Don't know	8	,6		
	No answer	4	,3		
	Total	12	,9		
Total		1356	100,0		

TABLE 7.1.47 Member of political party

		Frequency	Percent	Valid Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	Yes	79	5,8	5,8	5,8
	No	1274	94,0	94,2	100,0
	Total	1353	99,8	100,0	
Missing	No answer	3	,2		
Total		1356	100,0		

TABLE 7.1.48 Gender

		Frequency	Percent	Valid Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	Male	605	44,6	44,6	44,6
	Female	751	55,4	55,4	100,0
	Total	1356	100,0	100,0	

TABLE 7.1.49 Age

	-				
		Frequency	Percent	Valid Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	1,00	234	17,3	17,3	17,3
	2,00	463	34,1	34,1	51,4
	3,00	366	27,0	27,0	78,4
	4,00	293	21,6	21,6	100,0
	Total	1356	100,0	100,0	

TABLE 7.1.50 Education

-				
	Frequency	Percent	Valid Percent	Cumulative Percent

Valid	1,00	316	23,3	23,3	23,3
	2,00	834	61,5	61,6	84,9
	3,00	204	15,0	15,1	100,0
	Total	1354	99,9	100,0	
Missing	System	2	,1		
Total		1356	100,0		

TABLE 7.1.51 Income

		Frequency	Percent	Valid Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	1,00	156	11,5	14,4	14,4
	2,00	724	53,4	66,6	81,0
	3,00	200	14,7	18,4	99,4
	4,00	7	,5	,6	100,0
	Total	1087	80,2	100,0	
Missing	System	269	19,8		
Total		1356	100,0		

7.2 Appendix B – List of original ESS 3 2006 variables and coding

TABLE 7.2.1 Original ESS 3 2006 variables and coding

Question B 11

Some people don't vote nowadays for one reason or another. Did you vote in the last [country] national election in [month/year]?

Variable name and label: VOTE Voted last national election

Values and categories

- 1 Yes
- 2 No
- 3 Not eligible to vote
- 7 Refusal
- 8 Don't know
- 9 No answer

Question B 13 - 19

There are different ways of trying to improve things in [country] or help prevent things from going wrong. During the last 12 months, have you done any of the following? Have you ...

Instruction(s): Pre: ASK ALL Post: READ OUT ...

Values and categories

- 1 Yes
- 2 No
- 7 Refusal
- 8 Don't know
- 9 No answer

B13 contacted a politician, government or local government official?

Variable name and label: CONTPLT Contacted politician or government official last 12 months

B14 worked in a political party or action group?

Variable name and label: WRKPRTY Worked in political party or action group last 12 months

B15 worked in another organisation or association?

Variable name and label: WRKORG Worked in another organisation or association last 12 months

B16 worn or displayed a campaign badge/sticker?

Variable name and label: BADGE Worn or displayed campaign badge/sticker last 12 months

B17 signed a petition?

Variable name and label: SGNPTIT Signed petition last 12 months

B18 taken part in a lawful public demonstration?

Variable name and label: PBLDMN Taken part in lawful public demonstration last 12 months

Question B 21

Are you a member of any political party? Instruction(s): Pre: ASK ALL Variable name and label: MMBPRTY Member of political party

Values and categories

- 1 Yes
- 2 No
- 7 Refusal
- 8 Don't know
- 9 No answer

Question F 30

Are you or have you ever been a member of a trade union or similar organisation? IF YES, is that currently or previously? Instruction(s): Pre: ASK ALL Variable name and label: MBTRU Member of trade union or similar organisation

Values and categories

- 1 Yes, currently
- 2 Yes, previously
- 3 No
- 7 Refusal
- 8 Don't know
- 9 No answer

Question F 2 1

CODE SEX, respondent Variable name and label: GNDR Gender

Values and categories

- 1 Male
- 2 Female
- 9 No answer

Question F 3 1b

Age of respondent, calculated Variable name and label: AGE Age of respondent, calculated

Question F 6

What is the highest level of education you have achieved? Instruction(s): Pre: CARD 48 Post: Please use this card Variable name and label: EDULVL Highest level of education

Values and categories 0 Not completed primary education 1 Primary or first stage of basic

- 2 Lower secondary or second stage of basic
- 3 Upper secondary
- 4 Post secondary, non-tertiary
- 5 First stage of tertiary

6 Second stage of tertiary

7 Refusal

8 Don't know

9 No answer

Question F 32

If you add up the income from all sources, which letter describes your household's total net income?

Instruction(s): Pre: CARD 53

Variable name and label: HINCTNT Household's total net income, all sources

Values and categories

01 J 02 R 03 C 04 M 05 F 06 S 07 K 08 P 09 D 10 H 11 U 12 N 77 Refusal 88 Don't know 99 No answer

7.3 Appendix C – Confidence intervals around the means for Ireland, Netherlands, Slovenia and Poland

	Ireland	F	opulatio	'n	Vot	ing	Conta	acting	Workin	ig party	Wor organ	king ization	Wea	aring	Petiti	oning	Demon	strating	Memb pa	ership irty	Memb organi
		Mean	Lo CI	Up CI	Lo CI	Up CI	Lo CI	Up CI	Lo CI	Up CI	Lo CI	Up CI	Lo CI	Up CI	Lo CI	Up CI	Lo CI	Up CI	Lo CI	Up CI	Lo CI
Sox	Male	47,5%	44,7%	50,3%	44,6%	51,1%	44,3%	56,1%	44,7%	73,7%	47,8%	63,7%	31,6%	54,7%	36,3%	48,2%	42,9%	68,1%	42,9%	68,1%	54,9%
Sex	Female	52,5%	49,7%	55,3%	48,9%	55,4%	43,9%	55,7%	26,3%	55,3%	36,3%	52,2%	45,3%	68,4%	51,8%	63,7%	31,9%	57,1%	31,9%	57,1%	18,5%
	Young	15,1%	13,1%	17,1%	7,6%	11,5%	7,5%	14,9%	2,8%	22,4%	2,0%	9,4%	3,0%	17,0%	11,6%	20,4%	2,1%	16,9%	2,1%	16,9%	3,2%
٨٥٥	Lower middle age	41,6%	38,8%	44,3%	37,6%	43,9%	39,9%	51,6%	20,0%	48,0%	37,6%	43,6%	25,6%	48,2%	44,0%	56,0%	31,2%	56,4%	31,2%	56,4%	13,8%
Age	Upper middle age	21,1%	18,9%	23,4%	21,9%	27,5%	18,2%	28,2%	17,4%	44,7%	19,7%	33,9%	16,5%	37,2%	16,4%	26,2%	21,6%	45,6%	21,6%	45,6%	23,5%
	Old	22,2%	19,9%	24,5%	22,2%	27,8%	15,2%	24,6%	10,0%	34,6%	15,4%	28,6%	16,0%	36,5%	8,7%	16,7%	4,6%	21,7%	4,6%	21,7%	11,5%
	Low	18,0%	15,9%	20,2%	16,6%	21,7%	15,3%	24,8%	2,8%	22,4%	4,9%	14,4%	10,1%	28,6%	5,4%	12,2%	4,6%	21,7%	4,6%	21,7%	7,9%
Education	Medium	40,6%	37,8%	43,3%	36,7%	43,0%	25,3%	36,2%	23,5%	52,2%	21,4%	35,9%	21,6%	43,4%	25,5%	36,7%	33,3%	58,6%	33,3%	58,6%	24,3%
	High	41,4%	38,7%	44,2%	37,8%	44,2%	43,3%	55,1%	34,8%	64,3%	54,0%	69,5%	36,4%	59,8%	54,2%	66,0%	28,4%	53,3%	28,4%	53,3%	28,6%
	Low	5,2%	3,9%	6,4%	3,1%	5,7%	0,2%	3,4%	-2,1%	7,9%	0,6%	6,6%	-0,4%	9,2%	0,7%	4,5%	-1,1%	8,4%	-1,1%	8,4%	-0,6%
Income	Lower middle	31,6%	29,0%	34,2%	29,0%	35,0%	26,6%	37,6%	20,9%	49,0%	10,9%	22,9%	21,0%	42,8%	15,4%	25,1%	17,7%	40,7%	17,7%	40,7%	19,4%
income	Upper middle	42,6%	39,8%	45,4%	39,3%	45,7%	38,6%	50,3%	16,6%	43,6%	35,7%	51,6%	26,8%	49,5%	39,7%	51,7%	31,2%	56,4%	31,2%	56,4%	32,2%
	High	20,6%	18,3%	22,8%	18,4%	23,7%	16,9%	26,6%	18,3%	45,8%	28,2%	43,5%	15,4%	35,8%	25,9%	37,0%	12,6%	34,1%	12,6%	34,1%	4,5%

TABLE 7.3.1 Confidence intervals around the means for Ireland

Source: calculated by the author from the ESS 3 database

TABLE 7.3.2 Confidence intervals around the means for Netherlands

	lothorlands	F	Populatio	n	Vot	ing	Conta	acting	Workin	g party	Wor	king	Wea	aring	Petiti	oning	Demon	strating	Memb	ership	Memb
ľ	vetnenanus	Mean	Lo CI	Up CI	Lo CI	Up CI	Lo CI	Up CI	Lo CI	Up CI	Lo CI	Up CI	Lo Cl	Up CI	Lo CI	Up CI	Lo CI	Up CI	Lo CI	Up Cl	Lo CI
Sox	Male	49,3%	46,8%	51,8%	47,5%	52,9%	53,4%	66,2%	67,6%	89,1%	51,6%	61,4%	40,6%	66,7%	42,5%	53,4%	61,3%	86,6%	52,5%	73,3%	60,8%
Sex	Female	50,7%	48,2%	53,2%	47,1%	52,5%	33,8%	46,6%	10,9%	32,4%	38,6%	48,4%	33,3%	59,4%	46,6%	57,5%	13,4%	38,7%	26,7%	47,5%	28,4%
	Young	11,6%	10,0%	13,2%	8,4%	11,7%	3,1%	9,5%	2,1%	17,7%	7,7%	13,8%	0,0%	12,8%	7,4%	14,2%	1,9%	19,8%	2,7%	14,9%	3,9%
٨٥٥	Lower middle age	43,3%	40,8%	45,8%	39,5%	44,9%	46,1%	59,1%	20,2%	44,6%	39,7%	49,5%	28,9%	54,7%	41,8%	52,7%	22,0%	49,7%	18,0%	37,3%	38,2%
Age	Upper middle age	27,5%	25,3%	29,8%	26,7%	31,6%	24,2%	36,1%	27,7%	53,3%	24,8%	33,8%	20,4%	45,0%	26,3%	36,4%	26,1%	54,4%	22,0%	42,2%	31,9%
	Old	17,6%	15,7%	19,5%	16,5%	20,7%	6,9%	15,0%	7,3%	26,9%	11,7%	18,8%	8,8%	29,4%	7,2%	14,0%	3,3%	22,8%	21,4%	41,5%	8,3%
	Low	\$ 3,4%	7,0%	9,8%	5,5%	8,2%	0,4%	4,3%	-1,5%	6,9%	1,1%	4,3%	-1,3%	8,5%	1,8%	6,1%	1,2%	18,3%	1,8%	13,3%	2,8%
Education	Medium	65,6%	63,2%	68,0%	62,3%	67,5%	49,9%	62,8%	31,2%	57,1%	54,8%	64,5%	34,2%	60,4%	50,6%	61,5%	41,1%	69,8%	52,5%	73,3%	55,8%
	High	25,1%	23,9%	28,2%	25,9%	30,8%	35,0%	47,8%	40,1%	66,2%	32,9%	42,5%	36,0%	62,2%	34,6%	45,3%	21,1%	48,5%	19,7%	39,4%	27,9%
	Low	³ ,5%	2,6%	4,4%	1,9%	3,7%	0,7%	4,9%	-1,6%	3,4%	0,6%	3,4%	-0,9%	10,0%	0,8%	4,2%	-1,9%	4,1%	*	*	0,4%
Incomo	Lower middle	\$3,5%	31,1%	35,8%	28,6%	33,6%	18,9%	30,1%	9,4%	30,2%	24,0%	33,0%	12,5%	34,8%	25,3%	35,4%	20,1%	47,3%	18,6%	38,0%	21,6%
income	Upper middle	53,2%	50,7%	55,7%	52,8%	58,2%	54,2%	66,9%	53,4%	78,1%	53,9%	63,7%	48,1%	73,7%	51,5%	62,3%	42,2%	70,8%	53,8%	74,5%	55,1%
	High	59,8%	8,3%	11,3%	9,0%	12,3%	7,9%	16,4%	4,6%	22,4%	7,6%	13,7%	2,7%	19,1%	7,0%	13,6%	0,6%	16,8%	1,8%	13,3%	7,2%

*Party member is constant when Low Income = 1, it has been omitted

	Poland	F	Populatio	n	Vot	ing	Conta	acting	Workin	g party	Wor	king	Wea	aring	Petiti	oning	Demon	strating	Memb	pership	Memb
	Folanu	Mean	Lo CI	Up CI	Lo CI	Up CI	Lo CI	Up CI	Lo CI	Up CI	Lo CI	Up CI	Lo CI	Up CI	Lo CI	Up CI	Lo Cl	Up CI	Lo CI	Up CI	Lo CI
Sov	Male	47,1%	44,4%	49,9%	43,4%	50,0%	51,8%	72,3%	28,9%	72,3%	46,9%	72,5%	34,1%	70,6%	46,7%	68,8%	49,5%	96,6%	63,6%	106,3%	45,4%
Jex	Female	52,9%	50,1%	55,6%	50,0%	56,6%	27,7%	48,2%	27,7%	71,1%	27,5%	53,1%	29,4%	65,9%	31,2%	53,3%	3,4%	50,5%	-6,3%	36,4%	33,7%
	Young	21,3%	19,1%	23,5%	16,2%	21,4%	6,7%	21,5%	0,0%	31,7%	5,3%	23,7%	12,8%	46,1%	23,1%	44,2%	15,1%	67,4%	-4,3%	42,6%	1,3%
100	Lower middle age	34,5%	32,0%	37,1%	31,5%	37,8%	33,9%	54,9%	11,4%	51,8%	34,6%	60,7%	27,4%	63,8%	26,3%	47,9%	5,9%	54,7%	5,3%	61,6%	53,3%
Aye	Upper middle age	26,5%	24,1%	28,9%	26,0%	32,0%	20,5%	39,9%	15,2%	56,9%	10,6%	31,9%	5,3%	34,3%	14,8%	34,0%	-1,9%	39,5%	2,1%	56,3%	17,2%
	Old	17,7%	15,6%	19,7%	15,0%	20,1%	4,6%	18,0%	0,4%	32,6%	6,9%	26,3%	-2,9%	13,1%	0,1%	9,7%	-6,0%	25,3%	-4,8%	41,2%	-0,3%
	Low	23,8%	21,5%	26,1%	18,9%	24,4%	3,2%	15,6%	-3,6%	20,5%	3,3%	20,1%	-2,4%	16,0%	1,9%	13,9%	-6,5%	16,1%	-5,5%	39,0%	1,2%
Education	Medium	64,4%	61,8%	67,0%	61,4%	67,7%	61,0%	80,2%	41,4%	83,4%	45,2%	70,9%	39,8%	75,8%	46,1%	68,2%	41,5%	91,6%	52,6%	102,4%	60,6%
	High	11,8%	10,1%	13,6%	11,5%	16,1%	11,5%	28,4%	9,5%	48,9%	18,3%	42,3%	17,9%	52,8%	24,3%	45,7%	4,7%	52,7%	-8,1%	19,7%	14,5%
	Low	55,6%	52,9%	58,3%	49,6%	56,2%	38,6%	59,8%	42,5%	84,3%	25,6%	51,0%	22,8%	58,7%	16,3%	35,9%	24,0%	77,1%	38,2%	94,6%	29,5%
Incomo	Lower middle	41,0%	38,3%	43,6%	40,0%	46,5%	36,9%	58,0%	15,7%	57,5%	44,1%	69,9%	36,0%	72,4%	58,9%	79,5%	18,6%	71,5%	5,4%	61,8%	45,8%
lincome	Upper middle	2,4%	1,6%	3,2%	1,6%	3,8%	-0,7%	6,1%	*	*	-1,5%	7,0%	-3,2%	8,2%	-0,5%	7,9%	-6,5%	15,2%	*	*	-1,0%
	High	1,1%	0,5%	1,6%	0,5%	1,9%	-1,1%	2,4%	*	*	-1,7%	5,6%	-3,2%	8,3%	-1,2%	3,3%	*	*	*	*	-0,9%

TABLE 7.3.3 Confidence intervals around the means for Poland

Source: calculated by the author from the ESS 3 database

TABLE 7.3.4 Confidence intervals around the means for Slovenia

	Slovenia	F	Populatio	n	Vot	ing	Conta	acting	Workin	ig party	Wor	king	Wea	aring	Petiti	oning	Demon	strating	Memb	pership	Memb
	Sioverna	Mean	Lo CI	Up CI	Lo CI	Up CI	Lo CI	Up CI	Lo CI	Up CI	Lo CI	Up CI	Lo Cl	Up CI	Lo CI	Up CI	Lo Cl	UpCl	Lo CI	Up CI	Lo CI
Sox	Male	44,3%	41,3%	47,2%	40,4%	47,2%	53,3%	67,9%	55,5%	84,1%	55,4%	88,3%	32,8%	67,2%	35,3%	51,1%	29,8%	62,5%	41,3%	66,6%	34,2%
Jex	Female	55,7%	52,8%	58,7%	52,8%	59,6%	32,1%	46,7%	15,9%	44,5%	11,7%	44,6%	32,8%	67,2%	48,9%	64,7%	37,5%	70,2%	33,4%	58,7%	52,2%
	Young	16,1%	13,9%	18,3%	9,4%	13,7%	10,0%	20,8%	1,6%	21,6%	9,1%	40,9%	10,1%	39,9%	21,8%	36,3%	24,9%	57,2%	3,1%	19,1%	3,3%
100	Lower middle age	36,0%	33,1%	38,9%	33,4%	39,9%	42,2%	57,2%	31,0%	62,0%	19,8%	55,2%	27,4%	61,5%	37,2%	53,1%	20,1%	51,7%	18,5%	41,8%	63,9%
Age	Upper middle age	27,7%	25,1%	30,4%	26,2%	32,4%	17,6%	30,4%	10,1%	36,4%	2,3%	28,9%	10,1%	39,9%	13,1%	25,6%	5,3%	30,6%	21,4%	45,3%	14,5%
	Old	20,2%	17,8%	22,6%	19,7%	25,3%	6,2%	15,5%	6,5%	30,7%	6,7%	37,0%	-2,3%	13,4%	2,5%	10,4%	-2,1%	12,4%	14,3%	36,4%	0,6%
	Low	22,7%	20,2%	25,2%	19,0%	24,6%	7,1%	16,9%	6,5%	30,7%	2,3%	28,9%	3,9%	29,5%	2,5%	10,4%	0,3%	20,2%	7,8%	27,1%	14,0%
Education	Medium	61,1%	58,2%	64,0%	57,5%	64,1%	53,3%	67,9%	60,8%	88,0%	59,1%	90,9%	50,5%	82,8%	52,9%	68,4%	45,6%	77,5%	56,4%	80,1%	50,7%
	High	16,1%	13,9%	18,3%	14,8%	19,9%	20,8%	34,1%	-1,0%	14,9%	-1,3%	20,1%	3,9%	29,5%	25,4%	40,4%	13,4%	43,0%	6,4%	24,4%	17,1%
	Low	14,3%	12,2%	16,4%	10,7%	15,3%	3,1%	10,6%	3,2%	24,7%	-2,6%	15,1%	-2,3%	13,4%	1,2%	7,8%	-2,6%	7,8%	5,2%	22,4%	4,5%
Incomo	Lower middle	66,7%	63,9%	69,5%	64,6%	70,9%	59,2%	73,4%	52,9%	82,0%	55,4%	88,3%	35,6%	69,9%	50,2%	65,9%	51,2%	82,1%	58,2%	81,5%	67,1%
income	Upper middle	18,4%	16,1%	20,7%	15,8%	21,1%	19,7%	32,9%	6,5%	30,7%	6,7%	37,0%	24,7%	58,6%	28,5%	43,8%	13,4%	43,0%	6,6%	25,2%	12,7%
	High	0,6%	0,2%	1,1%	*	*	-0,6%	1,7%	*	*	*	*	*	*	-0,5%	3,1%	-2,6%	7,8%	*	*	-0,5%

7.4 Appendix D – Logged Representation Scale Results for Ireland, Netherlands, Slovenia and Poland

	Ireland	Voting	Contacting	Working party	Working organization	Wearing	Petitioning	Demonstrating	Membership party	Membership organization
Sov	Male	0,01	0,01	0,05	0,05	-0,07	-0,06	0,03	0,11	0,11
Sex	Female	-0,01	-0,01	-0,05	-0,05	0,05	0,05	-0,03	-0,12	-0,12
	Young	-0,25	-0,10	-0,06	-0,38	-0,05	0,01	-0,19	-0,22	-0,22
100	Lower middle age	0,00	0,03	-0,09	0,04	-0,12	0,08	0,05	-0,16	-0,16
Aye	Upper middle age	0,07	0,05	0,19	0,12	0,10	0,00	0,17	0,28	0,28
	Old	0,06	-0,03	-0,04	-0,02	0,09	-0,17	-0,21	-0,03	-0,02
	Low	0,02	0,02	-0,25	-0,36	-0,04	-0,32	-0,13	0,03	0,03
Education	Medium	-0,01	-0,10	0,00	-0,12	-0,11	-0,10	0,03	0,00	0,00
	High	0,00	0,07	0,08	0,18	0,10	0,16	0,03	-0,02	-0,02
	Low	-0,05	-0,23	-0,38	-0,13	-0,10	-0,32	-0,20	0,05	0,05
Income	Lower middle	0,00	0,01	0,04	-0,30	-0,01	-0,22	-0,06	0,02	0,02
lincome	Upper middle	0,00	0,00	-0,13	0,01	-0,05	0,04	0,03	0,05	0,05
	High	0,01	0,02	0,19	0,25	0,13	0,19	0,05	-0,19	-0,19

TABLE 7.4.1 Logged Representation Scale for Ireland

Source: calculated by the author from the ESS 3 database

	Ireland	Voting	Contacting	Working party	Working organization	Wearing	Petitioning	Demonstrating	Membership party	Membership organization
Sox	Male	47,6%	47,7%	52,4%	52,2%	39,6%	40,6%	50,0%	59,4%	59,4%
Sex	Female	52,4%	52,3%	47,6%	47,8%	60,4%	59,4%	50,0%	40,6%	40,6%
	Young	9,0%	12,6%	13,8%	6,6%	14,0%	16,5%	10,4%	9,7%	9,7%
٨٩٥	Lower middle age	37,6%	40,6%	30,8%	42,0%	28,9%	45,2%	42,9%	26,4%	26,4%
Age	Upper middle age	24,8%	23,4%	32,3%	27,4%	26,3%	21,2%	31,2%	40,3%	40,3%
	Old	28,7%	23,4%	23,1%	24,1%	30,7%	17,1%	15,6%	23,6%	23,6%
	Low	20,4%	20,6%	10,9%	8,5%	17,9%	9,3%	14,3%	21,1%	21,1%
Education	Medium ^{iti}	39,4%	32,0%	40,6%	30,3%	31,3%	32,1%	42,9%	40,8%	40,8%
	High	40,2%	47,4%	48,4%	61,1%	50,9%	58,6%	42,9%	38,0%	38,0%
	Low	4,5%	3,0%	2,1%	3,7%	3,9%	2,4%	3,1%	5,6%	5,6%
Incomo	Lower middle	31,6%	32,9%	35,4%	16,1%	31,2%	19,6%	27,7%	33,3%	33,3%
income	Upper middle 🛛 🖞	43,0%	42,9%	31,3%	44,1%	37,7%	46,0%	46,2%	48,1%	48,1%
	High 법	20,9%	21,3%	31,3%	36,0%	27,3%	32,0%	23,1%	13,0%	13,0%

TABLE 7.4.2 Subgroups share in the participant public for Ireland

	Ireland	Voting	Contacting	Working party	Working organization	Wearing	Petitioning	Demonstrating	Membership party	Membership organization
Sox	Male	46,8%	46,7%	46,7%	46,6%	46,5%	46,6%	46,4%	46,4%	46,4%
Sex	Female	53,2%	53,3%	53,3%	53,4%	53,5%	53,4%	53,6%	53,6%	53,6%
	Young	15,9%	15,8%	15,8%	15,9%	15,9%	16,0%	16,0%	16,0%	16,0%
٨٥٥	Lower middle age	37,9%	38,2%	38,1%	38,2%	38,1%	38,0%	38,0%	37,9%	37,9%
Age	Upper middle age	21,2%	20,8%	21,0%	20,8%	21,0%	21,0%	21,0%	21,2%	21,2%
	Old	25,0%	25,2%	25,1%	25,1%	25,1%	25,0%	25,0%	25,0%	25,0%
	Low	19,6%	19,4%	19,4%	19,4%	19,4%	19,4%	19,4%	19,6%	19,6%
Education	Medium	40,2%	40,4%	40,2%	40,4%	40,2%	40,2%	40,4%	40,5%	40,5%
	High	40,2%	40,1%	40,4%	40,2%	40,4%	40,3%	40,2%	40,0%	40,0%
	Low	5,1%	5,0%	5,0%	5,1%	4,9%	5,0%	4,8%	5,0%	5,0%
Incomo	Lower middle	31,9%	31,9%	32,0%	32,1%	32,1%	32,2%	32,1%	32,0%	32,0%
income	Upper middle	42,6%	42,7%	42,6%	42,6%	42,6%	42,2%	42,7%	42,8%	42,8%
	High	20,5%	20,3%	20,3%	20,2%	20,3%	20,5%	20,4%	20,2%	20,2%

TABLE 7.4.3 Subgroups share in the population for Ireland

Source: calculated by the author from the ESS 3 database

TABLE 7.4.4 Logged Representation Scale for Netherlands

LRS		Voting	Contacting	Working party	Working organization	Wearing	Petitioning	Demonstrating	Membership party	Membership organization
Sex	Male	0,01	0,10	0,18	0,07	0,02	-0,02	0,16	0,07	0,14
	Female	-0,01	-0,12	-0,28	-0,08	-0,02	0,01	-0,24	-0,08	-0,18
Age	Young	-0,07	-0,23	0,10	0,00	-0,07	-0,03	-0,05	-0,05	-0,24
	Lower middle age	-0,01	0,09	-0,13	0,03	-0,03	0,05	-0,05	-0,20	0,02
	Upper middle age	0,03	0,05	0,13	0,01	0,06	0,04	0,13	0,07	0,13
	Old	0,03	-0,25	-0,05	-0,07	0,01	-0,23	-0,13	0,23	-0,21
Education	Low	-0,08	-0,42	-0,20	-0,52	-0,08	-0,37	0,01	0,12	-0,23
	Medium	-0,01	-0,06	-0,17	-0,03	-0,16	-0,06	-0,06	-0,03	-0,01
	High	0,04	0,20	0,29	0,16	0,27	0,19	0,13	0,02	0,09
Income	Low	-0,11	-0,13	-0,34	-0,24	0,15	-0,16	-0,25		-0,26
	Lower middle	0,03	-0,12	-0,23	-0,07	-0,13	-0,04	0,01	-0,09	-0,10
	Upper middle	.0,02	0,05	0,09	0,04	0,05	0,03	0,02	0,07	0,06
	High	el 0,03	0,09	0,13	0,04	0,01	0,01	-0,09	-0,16	0,03

		Voting	Contacting	Working party	Working organization	Wearing	Petitioning	Demonstrating	Membership party	Membership organization
Sex	Male	48,7%	60,2%	72,9%	56,2%	50,0%	46,0%	69,8%	57,0%	65,7%
	Female	51,3%	39,8%	27,1%	43,8%	50,0%	54,0%	30,2%	43,0%	34,3%
Age	Young	10,7%	7,4%	15,7%	12,4%	10,6%	11,6%	11,3%	11,1%	7,1%
	Lower middle age	40,6%	51,2%	31,4%	44,5%	39,4%	47,4%	37,7%	26,3%	44,1%
	Upper middle age	29,5%	31,4%	37,1%	28,1%	31,8%	30,5%	37,7%	32,3%	37,9%
	Old	19,1%	10,1%	15,7%	15,0%	18,2%	10,5%	13,2%	30,3%	10,9%
Education	Low	7,5%	3,5%	5,8%	2,8%	7,6%	3,9%	9,4%	12,1%	5,3%
	Medium	65,0%	56,8%	44,9%	60,8%	45,5%	57,1%	56,6%	61,6%	63,5%
	High	27,5%	39,8%	49,3%	36,4%	47,0%	39,1%	34,0%	26,3%	31,2%
Income	Low	2,7%	2,6%	1,6%	2,0%	5,0%	2,4%	2,0%	0,0%	2,0%
	Lower middle	31,1%	25,3%	19,7%	28,3%	25,0%	30,6%	34,0%	28,2%	26,5%
	Upper middle	55,4%	60,1%	65,6%	59,0%	60,0%	56,9%	56,0%	64,7%	60,9%
	High	10,7%	12,0%	13,1%	10,8%	10,0%	10,1%	8,0%	7,1%	10,6%

 TABLE 7.4.5 Subgroups share in the participant public for Netherlands

Source: calculated by the author from the ESS 3 database

TABLE 7.4.6 Subgroups share in the population for Netherlands

		Voting	Contacting	Working party	Working organization	Wearing	Petitioning	Demonstrating	Membership party	Membership organization
Sex	Male	0,480392157	47,9%	47,8%	47,8%	47,8%	47,7%	47,8%	48,0%	47,8%
	Female	52,0%	52,1%	52,2%	52,2%	52,2%	52,3%	52,2%	52,0%	52,2%
Age	Young	12,5%	12,6%	12,6%	12,6%	12,6%	12,5%	12,6%	12,5%	12,5%
	Lower middle age	41,9%	41,9%	41,9%	42,0%	41,9%	42,0%	41,9%	42,0%	41,9%
	Upper middle age	27,7%	27,8%	27,7%	27,7%	27,8%	27,8%	27,8%	27,8%	27,9%
	Old	17,8%	17,8%	17,8%	17,8%	17,8%	17,7%	17,8%	17,7%	17,7%
Education	Low	9,1%	9,1%	9,1%	9,1%	9,1%	9,1%	9,1%	9,1%	9,1%
	Medium	65,8%	65,7%	65,7%	65,7%	65,7%	65,7%	65,7%	65,8%	65,7%
	High	g 25,1%	25,1%	25,1%	25,1%	25,1%	25,2%	25,1%	25,1%	25,2%
Income	Low	[.]	3,5%	3,6%	3,5%	3,6%	3,5%	3,6%	0,0%	3,6%
	Lower middle	33,4%	33,5%	33,5%	33,4%	33,5%	33,4%	33,5%	34,6%	33,5%
	Upper middle	0 53,1%	53,2%	53,2%	53,2%	53,2%	53,4%	53,1%	55,2%	53,1%
	High	La 9,9%	9,8%	9,8%	9,8%	9,8%	9,8%	9,8%	10,2%	9,8%

LRS		Voting	Contacting	Working party	Working organization	Wearing	Petitioning	Demonstrating	Membership party	Membership organization
Sex	Male	-0,01	0,09	0,05	0,08	0,00	0,08	0,10	0,27	0,05
	Female	0,01	-0,10	-0,06	-0,08	0,00	-0,09	-0,12	-0,68	-0,06
Age	Young	-0,05	-0,19	-0,10	-0,15	0,18	0,22	0,25	-0,03	-0,50
	Lower middle age	0,00	0,12	0,01	0,15	0,11	0,01	0,00	-0,04	0,25
	Upper middle age	0,03	0,06	0,11	-0,10	-0,20	-0,04	-0,23	0,10	0,03
	Old	0,00	-0,22	-0,09	-0,08	-0,52	-0,58	-0,25	-0,05	-0,76
Education	Low	-0,04	-0,42	-0,50	-0,37	-0,64	-0,53	-0,65	-0,32	-0,58
	Medium	0,00	0,03	-0,01	-0,05	-0,04	-0,05	-0,01	0,11	0,04
	High	0,07	0,27	0,39	0,44	0,47	0,47	0,42	-0,33	0,29
Income	Low	-0,02	-0,06	0,02	-0,17	-0,14	-0,33	-0,07	0,05	-0,16
	Lower middle	0,03	0,07	-0,03	0,15	0,11	0,23	0,06	-0,08	0,14
	Upper middle	0,06	-0,03		0,12	0,12	0,19	0,34		-0,06
	High	0,02	-0,02		0,18	0,46	0,06			0,30

TABLE 7.4.7 Logged Representation Scale for Poland

Source: calculated by the author from the ESS 3 database

TABLE 7.4.8 Subgroups share in the participant public for Poland

		Voting	Contacting	Working party	Working organization	Wearing	Petitioning	Demonstrating	Membership party	Membership organization
Sex	Male	46,6%	58,3%	53,6%	56,5%	47,4%	57,0%	60,0%	88,9%	53,5%
	Female	53,4%	41,7%	46,4%	43,5%	52,6%	43,0%	40,0%	11,1%	46,5%
Age	Young	20,1%	14,4%	17,9%	15,9%	34,2%	36,8%	40,0%	21,1%	7,1%
	Lower middle age	34,9%	46,2%	35,7%	49,3%	44,7%	35,6%	35,0%	31,6%	62,6%
	Upper middle age	27,3%	28,8%	32,1%	20,3%	15,8%	23,0%	15,0%	31,6%	27,3%
	Old	17,7%	10,6%	14,3%	14,5%	5,3%	4,6%	10,0%	15,8%	3,0%
Education	Low	21,6%	8,8%	7,4%	10,0%	5,4%	7,0%	5,3%	11,1%	6,1%
	Medium	5 64,4%	68,6%	63,0%	57,1%	59,5%	58,1%	63,2%	83,3%	70,4%
	High	ti 14,0%	22,5%	29,6%	32,9%	35,1%	34,9%	31,6%	5,6%	23,5%
Income	Low	52,6%	48,4%	60,0%	37,1%	40,6%	25,9%	47,4%	64,3%	38,7%
	Lower middle	<u> </u>	48,4%	40,0%	58,1%	53,1%	69,1%	47,4%	35,7%	57,0%
	Upper middle	ି 2,7%	2,2%	0,0%	3,2%	3,1%	3,7%	5,3%	0,0%	2,2%
	High	8 1,1%	1,1%	0,0%	1,6%	3,1%	1,2%	0,0%	0,0%	2,2%

		Voting	Contacting	Working party	Working organization	Wearing	Petitioning	Demonstrating	Membership party	Membership organization
Sex	Male	47,2%	47,2%	47,2%	47,2%	47,2%	47,3%	47,2%	47,2%	47,2%
	Female	52,8%	52,8%	52,8%	52,8%	52,8%	52,7%	52,8%	52,8%	52,8%
Age	Young	22,3%	22,4%	22,4%	22,3%	22,4%	22,4%	22,3%	22,4%	22,5%
	Lower middle age	34,8%	34,8%	34,8%	34,8%	34,8%	34,8%	34,7%	34,8%	34,9%
	Upper middle age	25,4%	25,2%	25,2%	25,3%	25,2%	25,3%	25,3%	25,3%	25,3%
	Old	17,6%	17,5%	17,6%	17,6%	17,6%	17,6%	17,6%	17,6%	17,3%
Education	Low	23,4%	23,3%	23,4%	23,4%	23,4%	23,4%	23,4%	23,4%	23,3%
	Medium	64,6%	64,7%	64,6%	64,6%	64,6%	64,6%	64,7%	64,6%	64,7%
	High	12,0%	12,0%	12,0%	12,0%	12,0%	11,9%	11,9%	12,0%	12,0%
Income	Low	55,6%	55,5%	57,5%	55,5%	55,5%	55,6%	56,2%	57,5%	55,4%
	Lower middle	41,0%	41,0%	42,5%	41,0%	41,0%	40,9%	41,4%	42,5%	41,1%
	Upper middle	2,4%	2,4%		2,4%	2,4%	2,4%	2,4%		2,4%
	High	1,1%	1,1%		1,1%	1,1%	1,1%			1,1%

TABLE 7.4.9 Subgroups share in the population for Poland

Source: calculated by the author from the ESS 3 database

TABLE 7.4.10 Logged Representation Scale for Slovenia

LRS		Voting	Contacting	Working party	W orking organization	Wearing	Petitioning	Demonstrating	Membership party	Membership organization
Sex	Male	-0,01	0,13	0,17	0,22	0,08	-0,02	0,00	0,08	-0,03
	Female	0,01	-0,14	-0,20	-0,32	-0,08	0,01	0,00	-0,07	0,02
Age	Young	-0,15	-0,04	-0,25	0,14	0,17	0,23	0,35	-0,18	-0,37
	Lower mide	0,00	0,14	0,09	0,01	0,11	0,10	0,05	-0,11	0,29
	Upper mide	0,03	-0,01	0,00	-0,18	-0,02	-0,13	-0,15	0,10	-0,07
	Old	0,05	-0,28	-0,01	0,04	-0,67	-0,46	-0,70	0,11	-0,77
Education	Low	0,01	-0,34	0,03	-0,20	-0,16	-0,53	-0,20	-0,01	-0,10
	Medium	. <mark>≩</mark> 0,01	0,01	0,05	0,09	0,02	0,01	-0,03	0,02	-0,02
	High	ĕ_0,05	0,25	-0,42	-0,23	0,09	0,31	0,26	-0,08	0,18
Income	Low	ŭ0,03	-0,34	-0,02	-0,36	-0,25	-0,52	-0,75	-0,01	-0,25
	Lower mide	F₀0,00	0,00	0,00	0,03	-0,11	-0,06	0,00	0,01	0,04
	Upper mide	20,00	0,16	0,00	0,07	0,34	0,30	0,19	-0,04	-0,01
	High	⁰ 0,09	-0,07			0,19	0,28	0,60		-0,14

		Voting	Contacting	Working party	W orking organization	Wearing	Petitioning	Demonstrating	Membership party	Membership organization
Sex	Male	43,9%	59,8%	65,4%	73,5%	53,5%	42,9%	44,7%	53,2%	42,1%
	Female	56,1%	40,2%	34,6%	26,5%	46,5%	57,1%	55,3%	46,8%	57,9%
Age	Young	12,1%	15,9%	9,6%	23,5%	25,6%	29,1%	38,3%	11,4%	7,3%
	Lower mide	34,8%	46,7%	42,3%	35,3%	44,2%	43,4%	38,3%	26,6%	66,0%
	Upper mide	29,1%	26,2%	26,9%	17,6%	25,6%	20,1%	19,1%	34,2%	23,1%
	Old	24,0%	11,2%	21,2%	23,5%	4,7%	7,4%	4,3%	27,8%	3,6%
Education	Low	22,5%	10,7%	25,0%	14,7%	16,3%	6,9%	14,9%	22,8%	18,6%
	Medium	60,8%	62,6%	69,2%	76,5%	65,1%	62,4%	57,4%	64,6%	58,7%
	High	16,7%	26,6%	5,8%	8,8%	18,6%	30,7%	27,7%	12,7%	22,7%
Income	Low	13,3%	6,6%	14,0%	6,3%	8,1%	4,3%	2,6%	13,8%	8,1%
	Lower mide	67,4%	66,3%	67,4%	71,9%	51,4%	58,0%	66,7%	69,2%	73,5%
	Upper mide	18,4%	26,5%	18,6%	21,9%	40,5%	36,4%	28,2%	16,9%	18,0%
	High	0,8%	0,6%	0,0%	0,0%	1,0%	1,2%	2,6%	0,0%	0,5%

TABLE 7.4.11 Subgroups share in the participant public for Slovenia

Source: calculated by the author from the ESS 3 database

TABLE 7.4.12 Subgroups share in the population for Slovenia

		Voting	Contacting	Working party	W orking organization	Wearing	Petitioning	Demonstrating	Membership party	Membership organization
Sex	Male	45,0%	44,6%	44,6%	44,6%	44,7%	44,6%	44,6%	44,7%	44,7%
	Female	55,0%	55,4%	55,4%	55,4%	55,3%	55,4%	55,4%	55,3%	55,3%
Age	Young	17,3%	17,3%	17,3%	17,2%	17,3%	17,3%	17,3%	17,3%	17,3%
	Lower mide	34,4%	34,2%	34,2%	34,2%	34,2%	34,3%	34,1%	34,2%	34,2%
	Upper mide	26,9%	27,0%	27,0%	27,0%	27,0%	27,0%	27,0%	26,9%	27,1%
	Old	21,4%	21,5%	21,5%	21,6%	21,6%	21,4%	21,6%	21,6%	21,5%
Education	Low	23,2%	23,3%	23,3%	23,3%	23,4%	23,3%	23,4%	23,3%	23,4%
	Medium	62,0%	61,6%	61,6%	61,6%	61,6%	61,6%	61,6%	61,6%	61,7%
	High	194,8%	15,1%	15,1%	15,1%	15,1%	15,1%	15,1%	15,1%	14,9%
Income	Low	124,4%	14,4%	14,4%	14,4%	14,4%	14,3%	14,4%	14,3%	14,4%
	Lower mide	66,7%	66,6%	67,0%	67,2%	66,6%	66,6%	66,6%	67,2%	66,5%
	Upper mide	18,2%	18,4%	18,5%	18,5%	18,4%	18,5%	18,4%	18,6%	18,4%
	High	0,7%	0,6%			0,6%	0,6%	0,6%		0,6%

7.5 Appendix E – Summary measure of participatory distortion

	Ireland	Voting	Contacting	Working party	Working organization	Wearing	Petitioning	Demonstrating	Membership party	Membership organization
Car	Male	0,00	0,00	0,02	0,02	0,03	0,03	0,02	0,05	0,05
Sex	Female	0,00	0,00	0,03	0,03	0,03	0,02	0,02	0,06	0,06
		0,01	0,01	0,05	0,05	0,06	0,05	0,03	0,11	0,11
	Young	0,04	0,02	0,01	0,06	0,01	0,00	0,03	0,03	0,03
A.00	Lower middle age	0,00	0,01	0,04	0,02	0,05	0,03	0,02	0,06	0,06
Age	Upper middle age	0,01	0,01	0,04	0,02	0,02	0,00	0,04	0,06	0,06
	Old	0,01	0,01	0,01	0,00	0,02	0,04	0,05	0,01	0,01
		0,07	0,04	0,09	0,11	0,10	0,07	0,14	0,16	0,16
	Low	0,00	0,00	0,05	0,07	0,01	0,06	0,03	0,01	0,01
Education	Medium	0,00	0,04	0,00	0,05	0,04	0,04	0,01	0,00	0,00
	High	0,00	0,03	0,03	0,07	0,04	0,07	0,01	0,01	0,01
		0,01	0,07	0,08	0,19	0,09	0,17	0,05	0,02	0,02
	Low	0,00	0,01	0,02	0,01	0,00	0,02	0,01	0,00	0,00
Income	Lower middle	0,00	0,00	0,01	0,10	0,00	0,07	0,02	0,01	0,01
	Upper middle	0,00	0,00	0,06	0,01	0,02	0,02	0,01	0,02	0,02
	High	0,00	0,00	0,04	0,05	0,03	0,04	0,01	0,04	0,04
		0,01	0,02	0,13	0,16	0,06	0,14	0,06	0,07	0,07
Sum of pondered values		0,09	0,15	0,35	0,51	0,31	0,43	0,27	0,36	0,36

TABLE 7.5.1 Summary measure of participatory distortion for Ireland

Source: calculated by the author from the ESS 3 database

TABLE 7.5.2 Summary measure of participatory distortion for Netherlands

N	letherlands	Voting	Contacting	Working party	Working organization	Wearing	Petitioning	Demonstrating	Membership party	Membership organization
Sex	Male	0,00	0,05	0,09	0,03	0,01	0,01	0,08	0,04	0,07
Sex	Female	0,00	0,06	0,15	0,04	0,01	0,01	0,12	0,04	0,09
		0,01	0,11	0,24	0,07	0,02	0,01	0,20	0,08	0,16
	Young	0,01	0,03	0,01	0,00	0,01	0,00	0,01	0,01	0,03
100	Lower middle age	0,01	0,04	0,05	0,01	0,01	0,02	0,02	0,09	0,01
Age	Upper middle age	0,01	0,01	0,04	0,00	0,02	0,01	0,04	0,02	0,04
	Old	0,01	0,04	0,01	0,01	0,00	0,04	0,02	0,04	0,04
		<u>0,03</u>	0,12	0,11	0,03	0,04	0,08	0,08	0,15	0,11
	Low	.9,01	0,04	0,02	0,05	0,01	0,03	0,00	0,01	0,02
Education	Medium	9,00	0,04	0,11	0,02	0,11	0,04	0,04	0,02	0,01
	High	70 ,01	0,05	0,07	0,04	0,07	0,05	0,03	0,00	0,02
		70,02	0,13	0,20	0,11	0,18	0,12	0,08	0,03	0,05
	Low	H2,00	0,00	0,01	0,01	0,01	0,01	0,01	0,00	0,01
Incomo	Lower middle	± 0 ,01	0,04	0,08	0,02	0,04	0,01	0,00	0,03	0,03
income	Upper middle	0,01	0,03	0,05	0,02	0,03	0,01	0,01	0,04	0,03
	High	0,00	0,01	0,01	0,00	0,00	0,00	0,01	0,02	0,00
		0,03	0,08	0,15	0,06	0,08	0,03	0,03	0,08	0,08
Sum of pondered values		0,08	0,45	0,70	0,27	0,32	0,25	0,40	0,35	0,41

	Slovenia	Voting	Contacting	Working party	Working organization	Wearing	Petitioning	Demonstrating	Membership party	Membership organization
Sov	Male	0,00	0,06	0,07	0,10	0,03	0,01	0,00	0,03	0,01
Jex	Female	0,00	0,08	0,11	0,18	0,04	0,01	0,00	0,04	0,01
		0,01	0,13	0,19	0,27	0,08	0,02	0,00	0,07	0,02
	Young	0,03	0,01	0,04	0,02	0,03	0,04	0,06	0,03	0,06
100	Lower middle age	0,00	0,05	0,03	0,00	0,04	0,04	0,02	0,04	0,10
Age	Upper middle age	0,01	0,00	0,00	0,05	0,01	0,03	0,04	0,03	0,02
	Old	0,01	0,06	0,00	0,01	0,14	0,10	0,15	0,02	0,17
		0,05	0,12	0,08	0,09	0,22	0,21	0,27	0,12	0,35
	Low	0,00	0,08	0,01	0,05	0,04	0,12	0,05	0,00	0,02
Education	Medium	0,01	0,00	0,03	0,06	0,01	0,00	0,02	0,01	0,01
	High	0,01	0,04	0,06	0,04	0,01	0,05	0,04	0,01	0,03
		0,02	0,12	0,10	0,14	0,07	0,17	0,10	0,03	0,06
	Low	0,00	0,05	0,00	0,05	0,04	0,07	0,11	0,00	0,04
Incomo	Lower middle	0,00	0,00	0,00	0,02	0,08	0,04	0,00	0,01	0,03
income	Upper middle	0,00	0,03	0,00	0,01	0,06	0,05	0,03	0,01	0,00
	High	0,00	0,00	0,00	0,00	0,00	0,00	0,00	0,00	0,00
		0,01	0,08	0,00	0,09	0,18	0,17	0,15	0,02	0,07
Sum of po	ndered values	0,08	0,45	0,37	0,58	0,53	0,57	0,52	0,24	0,50

 TABLE 7.5.3 Summary measure of participatory distortion for Slovenia

Source: calculated by the author from the ESS 3 database

TABLE 7.5.4 Summary measure of participatory distortion for Poland

	Poland	Voting	Contacting	Working party	Working organization	Wearing	Petitioning	Demonstrating	Membership party	Membership organization
Sov	Male	0,00	0,04	0,03	0,04	0,00	0,04	0,05	0,13	0,03
Jex	Female	0,00	0,05	0,03	0,04	0,00	0,05	0,06	0,36	0,03
		0,01	0,10	0,06	0,08	0,00	0,08	0,11	0,49	0,06
	Young	0,01	0,04	0,02	0,03	0,04	0,05	0,06	0,01	0,11
400	Lower middle age	0,00	0,04	0,00	0,05	0,04	0,00	0,00	0,01	0,09
Age	Upper middle age	0,01	0,01	0,03	0,02	0,05	0,01	0,06	0,02	0,01
	Old	0,00	0,04	0,02	0,01	0,09	0,10	0,04	0,01	0,13
		0,02	0,14	0,07	0,12	0,22	0,17	0,16	0,05	0,34
	Low	_0,01	0,10	0,12	0,09	0,15	0,12	0,15	0,08	0,14
Education	Medium		0,02	0,01	0,03	0,02	0,03	0,01	0,07	0,02
	High	<u>3</u> 0,01	0,03	0,05	0,05	0,06	0,06	0,05	0,04	0,03
		, a0,02	0,15	0,17	0,17	0,23	0,21	0,21	0,19	0,19
	Low	0,01	0,03	0,01	0,10	0,08	0,18	0,04	0,00	0,09
Incomo	Lower middle	50,01	0,03	0,01	0,06	0,05	0,09	0,02	0,03	0,06
income	Upper middle	⊒ 0,00	0,00	0,00	0,00	0,00	0,00	0,01	0,00	0,00
	High	50,00	0,00	0,00	0,00	0,00	0,00	0,00	0,00	0,00
		0,03	0,06	0,02	0,16	0,13	0,28	0,07	0,03	0,15
Sum of pondered values		0,07	0,45	0,32	0,54	0,58	0,74	0,55	0,76	0,74

8. REFERENCE LIST

- Adcock, Robert, and David Collier. 2001. Measurement Validity: A Shared Standard for Qualitative and Quantitative Research. *American Political Science Review* 95, no. 03: 529-546.
- Adcock, Robert. 2009. Making Social Science Matter To Us. *Journal of Theoretical Politics* 21, no. 1 (January 1): 97-112
- Altman D., and Pérez Linan A. 2002. Assessing the Quality of Democracy: Freedom, Competitiveness and Participation in Eighteen Latin American Countries. *Democratization* (Summer): 85-100.
- Anderson, Barbara A., and Paul R. Abramson. 1986. Who overreports voting? *American Political Science Review* 80 (2): 613-24
- Andreev, Svetlozar A. 2005. Database of EUI publications: Conceptual Definitions and Measurement Indicators of the Quality of Democracy: An Overview. RSCAS Working Papers. EUI RSC
- Arendt, Hannah. 1958. The Origins of Totalitarianism. 2nd ed. Meridian Books, January 1.
- Aristotel, 350 B.C.E. *Politics*. Translated by Benjamin Jowett, The Internet Classics Archive (http://classics.mit.edu/Aristotle/politics.html, May 1st, 2009)
- Armbruster, Chris. 2008. The Quality of Democracy in Europe: Soviet Illegitimacy and Negotiated Revolutions of 1989, Working Paper Series of the Research Network 1989, 4/2008
- Arneson, Richard. 1989. Equality and Equal Opportunity for Welfare, *Philosophical Studies* 56: 77–93
- Baker, J. Peter. and Koesel, J. Karrie 2001. Measuring "Polyarchy Plus": Tracking the Quality of Democratization in Eastern Europe, 1992-2000, Prepared for Presentation at the Annual Meeting of the American Political Science Association, August 30 -September 02, 2001, San Francisco, CA.
- Baker, J., Lynch, K., Cantillon, S., Walsh, J. 2004. *Equality: From Theory to Action.* London and New York: Palgrave Macmillan
- Beck, Paul Allen, and M. Kent Jennings. 1982. Pathways to Participation. *The American Political Science Review* 76(1):94-108.
- Beetham, David. 2004. Towards a universal framework for democracy assessment. *Democratization* 11 (April): 1-17.
- Beitz, Charles R. 1990. Political Equality. Princeton University Press, January 1.
- Belli, Robert F., Michael W. Traugott, and Matthew N. Beckmann. 2001. What leads to voting overreports? Contrasts of overreporters and validated voters and admitted non-voters in the American National Election Studies. *Journal of Official Statistics* 17 (4):479-98.
- Belli, Robert F., Michael W. Traugott, Margaret Young, and Katherine A. McGonagle. 1999. Reducing vote overreporting in surveys: Social desirability, memory failure, and source monitoring. *Public Opinion Quarterly* 63 (1): 90-108.
- Belli, Robert F., Sean E. Moore, and John VanHoewyk. 2006. An experimental comparison of question forms used to reduce vote overreporting. *Electoral Studies* 25: 751-59.
- Benson, Michelle, and Thomas R. Rochon. 2004. Interpersonal Trust and the Magnitude of Protest: A Micro and Macro-Level Approach. *Comparative Political Studies* 37:435-457.
- Berg-Schlosser, Dirk, 2004. Indicators of Democracy and Good Governance as Measures of the Quality of Democracy in Africa, *Acta Politica* 39 (3), 284-278

- Bernstein, Robert, Anita Chadha, and Robert Montjoy. 2001. Overreporting voting: Why it happens and why it matters? *Public Opinion Quarterly* 65 (1): 22-44.
- Bollen, Kenneth A. 1980. Issues in the Comparative Measurement of Political Democracy. *American Sociological Review* 45, no. 3 (June): 370-390.
- Bollen, Kenneth A., and Robert W. Jackman. 1985. Political Democracy and the Size Distribution of Income. *American Sociological Review* 50, no. 4 (August): 438-457.
- Bollen, Kenneth A., and Robert W. Jackman. 1989. Democracy, Stability, and Dichotomies. *American Sociological Review* 54, no. 4 (August): 612-621.
- Bollen, Kenneth. 1990. Political Democracy: Conceptual and Measurement Traps. *Studies in Comparative International Development (SCID)* 25, no. 1 (March 4): 7-24.
- Brady, Henry E, Verba, Sidney, and Schlozman, Kay Lehman. 1995. Beyond SES: a resource model of political participation. *American Political Science Review* 89, no. 2 (June 1): 271-294.
- Brady, Henry E., David Collier, and Jason Seawright. 2006. Toward a Pluralistic Vision of Methodology. *Political Analysis* 14, no. 3 (July 1): 353-368.
- Braumoeller, Bear F. 2006. Explaining Variance; Or, Stuck in a Moment We Can't Get Out Of. *Political Analysis* 14, no. 3 (July 1): 268-290.
- Bühlmann , Marc, Wolfgang Merkel, and Bernhard Wessels. 2008. The Quality of Democracy: Democracy Barometer for Established Democracies
- Burns, Nancy, Kay Lehman Schlozman, and Sidney Verba. 2001. *The Private Roots of Public Action: Gender, Equality, and Political Participation*. 1st ed. Harvard University Press, December 15.
- Campbell, David E. 2006. *Why We Vote: How Schools and Communities Shape Our Civic Life.* Princeton: Princeton University Press.
- Cingranelli, David, and David Richards. 2004. The Cingranelli-Richards (CIRI) Human Rights Database Coding Manual. (http://ciri.binghamton.edu/documentation)
- Citrin, Jack, Eric Schickler, and John Sides. 2003. What if Everyone Voted? Simulating the Impact of Increased Turnout in Senate Elections. *American Journal of Political Science* 47(1):75-90.
- Conceicao, Pedro, and Pedro Ferreira. 2000. The Young Person's Guide to the Theil Index: Suggesting Intuitive Interpretations and Exploring Analytical Applications. *SSRN eLibrary* (February 29).
- Conway, M. Margaret. 2000. *Political Participation in the United States*. 3rd ed. Congressional Quarterly Books, May.
- Coppedge, Michael, and Wolfgang Reinicke. 1990. Measuring Polyarchy. *Studies in Comparative International Development (SCID)* 25, no. 1 (March 4): 51-72.
- Coppedge, Michael. 2002. Theory Building and Hypothesis Testing: Large- vs. Small-N Research on Democratization. *Paper prepared for presentation at the Annual Meeting of the Midwest Political Science Association, Chicago, Illinois* (April 25).
- Coricelli, Fabrizio. 2007. Democracy in the Post-Communist World: Unfinished Business. *East European Politics and Societies* 21, no. 1 (February 1): 82-90.
- Crozier, Michel, Samuel P. Huntington, and Joji Watanuki. 1975. *The Crisis of Democracy: Report on the Governability of Democracies to the Trilateral Commission*. New York University Press, October 1.
- Dahl, Robert A. 1972. *Polyarchy: Participation and Opposition*. Yale University Press, September 10.
- Dahl, Robert A. 2006a. *A Preface to Democratic Theory, Expanded Edition*. 50th ed. University Of Chicago Press, September 15.
- Dahl, Robert A. 2006b. *On Political Equality*. 1st ed. Yale University Press, September 15. Dalton, Russell 1988. *Citizen politics in Western Democracies*, Chatham House Publishers

David Beetham. 2004. Towards a universal framework for democracy assessment. *Democratization* 11 (April): 1-17.

- David Collier. 205. A Statistical rationale for Qualitative Research? *Prepared for NSF Workshop on Interdisciplinary Standards for Systematic Qualitative Research* (May). http://www.wjh.harvard.edu/nsfqual/Collier%20Paper.pdf.
- Dekker, Paul. 2001. Social Capital and Participation in Everyday Life. Routledge, May 29.
- Della Porta, Donatella and Morlino, Leonardo 2001, *Rights and the Quality of Democracy in Italy. A research report.* Stockholm: IDEA
- Deth, Jan Van. 1997. Private Groups and Public Life: Social Participation, Voluntary Associations and Political Involvement in Representative Democracies. Routledge, December 15.
- Diamond, Dr. Larry, and Dr. Marc F. Plattner. 1996. *The Global Resurgence of Democracy*. 2nd ed. The Johns Hopkins University Press, July 23.
- Diamond, Dr. Larry, and Professor Leonardo Morlino. 2005. Assessing the Quality of Democracy. illustrated edition. The Johns Hopkins University Press, October 7.
- Einstadt, Shamuel N. and Rene Lemarchard (eds.) 1981. Political Clientelism, Patronage and Development. Newbury Park, Sage
- Ekiert, Grzegorz, Jan Kubik, and Milada Anna Vachudova. 2007. Democracy in the Post-Communist World: An Unending Quest? *East European Politics and Societies* 21, no. 1 (February 1): 7-30.
- Fahmy. Eldin. 2003. Civic Capacity, Social Exclusion & Political Participation in Britain: Evidence from the 1999 Poverty & Social Exclusion Survey. Paper presented at the Political Studies Association Annual Conference University of Leicester (April 15). http://www.psa.ac.uk/journals/pdf/5/2003/Eldin%20Fahmy.pdf.
- Fiorina, Morris P. 1999. Extreme Voices: A Dark Side of Civic Engagement. In Theda Skocpol and Morris P. Fiorina, eds., *Civic Engagement in American Democracy* Washington, DC: Brookings Institution Press. Chapter 11.
- Fishman, Robert M. 2004 *Democracy's Voices: Social Ties and the Quality of Public Life in Spain.* By Cornell University Press
- Foweraker J., and Krznaric R. 2001. How to Construct a Database of Liberal Democratic Performance. *Democratization* 8 (Fall): 1-25.
- Fowler, James H. 2006. Altruism and Turnout. Journal of Politics 68(3): 674-683.
- Forbrig, Joerg (ed.) 2005. *Revisiting youth political participation*. Challenges for research and democratic practice in Europe, Council of Europe Publishing
- Franklin, Mark N. 2004. Voter Turnout and the Dynamics of Electoral Competition in Established Democracies since 1945. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press. Chapter 1.
- Franklin, Mark, Cess van der Eijk and Erik Oppenhuis. 1996. 'The Institutional Context: Turnout' . In Choosing Europe? The European Electorate and National Politics in the Face of Union, edited by Cees van der Eijk and Mark Franklin. Ann Arbor, MI: University of Michigan Press.
- Geddes, Barbara. 2003. What do we know about democratization after twenty years? Reviewarticle. November 28. *Democratization*
- Gray, Mark, and Miki Caul. 2000. Declining Voter Turnout in Advanced Industrial Democracies, 1950 to 1997: The Effects of Declining Group Mobilization. *Comparative Political Studies* 33, no. 9 (November 1): 1091-1122.
- Griffin, John D., and Brian Newman. 2005. "Are Voters Better Represented?" Journal of
- Griffin, John D., and Brian Newman. 2008. *Minority Report: Evaluating Political Equality in America*. University Of Chicago Press, June 1.

Grzymala-Busse, Anna. 2007. Encouraging Effective Democratic Competition. *East European Politics and Societies* 21, no. 1 (February 1): 91-110.

Holmes, Jennifer S., and Sheila Amin Gutierrez de Pineres. 2006. Democratic development: a comprehensive concept of comparative assessment. *International Journal of Social Economics* 33, no. 1: 54 - 76.

Huntington, Samuel P. 1993. *The Third Wave: Democratization in the Late Twentieth Century*. University of Oklahoma Press, March.

Huntington, Samuel P.. 2006. *Political Order in Changing Societies*. Yale University Press, May 15.

Hutcheson, D. 2005a. *The Quality of Democracy in Post-Communist Europe*. annotated edition. Routledge, December 19.

Ingelhart Ronald, Norris Pipa and Welzel Christian 2004. *Gender Equality and Democracy*, http://ksghome.harvard.edu/~pnorris/Acrobat/Gender%20equality%20&%20democracy .pdf (January 12th 2009)

Jackman, Robert W. 1987. Political Institutions and Voter Turnout in the Industrial Democracies. *American Political Science Review* 81:405-423.

- Kaufman, Alexander (ed.) 2006. *Capabilities Equality: Basic issues and problems*, New York: Routledge
- Kam D. Cindy and Palmer Carl L. 2008. Reconsidering the Effects of Education on Political Participation. *The Journal of Politics*, Vol. 70, No. 3, July 2008, Pp. 612–631

Khatib, N., 2004. Reevaluating Interest Group Membership and Participation. Paper presented at the annual meeting of the The Midwest Political Science Association, Palmer House Hilton, Chicago, Illinois

Kostadinova, Tatiana, and Timothy J. Power. 2007. Does Democratization Depress Participation? Voter Turnout in the Latin American and Eastern European Transitional Democracies. *Political Research Quarterly* 60, no. 3 (September 1): 363-377.

Krishna, Anirudh. 2008. *Poverty, Participation, and Democracy: A Global Perspective*. 1st ed. Cambridge University Press, August 4.

Lafferty, William M. 1978. Social Development and Political Participation: Class, Organizations and Sex. *Scandinavian Political Studies* 1, no. 4: 233-254.

LeDuc, Dr. Lawrence, Richard G. Niemi, and Pippa Norris. 1996. *Comparing Democracies: Elections and Voting in Global Perspective*. 1st ed. Sage Publications, Inc, August 29.

LeDuc. 2002. Comparing Democracies 2: New Challenges in the Study of Elections and Voting. 2nd ed. Sage Publications Ltd, March 13.

Leighley, Jan E., and Jonathan Nagler. 1992. Socioeconomic Bias in Turnout, 1964-1988: The Voters Remain the Same. *American Political Science Review* 86(3):725-736.

- Leonardo Morlino . 2004. What is a 'good' democracy? *Democratization* 11, no. 5 (December 1): 10-32.
- Leonardo Morlino. 2008. Democracy and Changes: How Research Tails Reality. *West European Politics* 31, no. 1 (January 1): 40-59.

Letki, Natalia. 2004. Socialization for Participation? Trust, Membership, and Democratization in East-Central Europe. *Political Research Quarterly* 57, no. 4 (December 1): 665-679.

- Lijphart, Arend, and Carlos Waisman. 1996. Institutional Design In New Democracies: Eastern Europe And Latin America. Westview Press, August 22.
- Lijphart, Arend. 1997. "Unequal Participation: Democracy's Unresolved Dilemma." American Political Science Review 91(1):1-14.
- Lijphart, Arend. 1999. Patterns of Democracy: Government Forms and Performance in Thirty-Six Countries. Yale University Press, July 11.

Gutmann, A. 1980. Liberal Equality, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge

Lijphart, Arend. 2007. *Thinking About Democracy: Power Sharing and Majority Rule in Theory and Practice*. New edition. Routledge, November 20.

- Linz, Juan J. 2007 in Berg-Schlosser, Dirk (ed.) Democratization, The State of the Art. 2nd revised an updated edition, Barbara Budrich Publishers
- Linz, Professor Juan J., and Professor Alfred Stepan. 1996. *Problems of Democratic Transition and Consolidation: Southern Europe, South America, and Post-Communist Europe.* illustrated edition. The Johns Hopkins University Press, August
- Lom, Petr 1999. *Alexis de Tocqueville: The Psychologist of Equality*, EUI Working Paper SPS No. 99/1
- Lynn G. Bennie. 2004. Understanding Political Participation: Green Party Membership in Scotland. Ashgate Publishing, December 31.
- Mahoney, James, and David Collier. 1996. Research Note: Insights and Pitfalls: Selection Bias in Qualitative Research. *World Politics* 49, no. 1: 59-91.
- Mahoney, James. 2008. Toward a Unified Theory of Causality. *Comparative Political Studies* 41, no. 4-5 (April 1): 412-436.
- Mcclurg, Scott D. 2003. Social Networks and Political Participation: The Role of Social Interaction in Explaining Political Participation. *Political Research Quarterly* 56, no. 4 (December 1): 449-464.
- McDonald, Michael P., and Samuel Popkin. 2001. "The Myth of the Vanishing Voter." American Political Science Review 95(4):963-974
- Meehl, Paul. 1977. The Selfish Voter Paradox and the Thrown-Away Vote Argument *American Political Science Review* 71(1):11-31.
- Michels, Ank. 2006. Citizen participation and democracy in the Netherlands. *Democratization* 13, no. 2 (April 1): 323-339.
- Milbrath, Lester W. 1966. Political Participation. Rand McNally.
- Milbrath, Lester W. 1982. *Citizen surveys as citizen participation mechanisms*. Nelson A. Rockefeller Institute of Government, State University of New York.
- Nagel, Jack H. 1987. Participation. Prentice Hall College Div, January.
- Nielsen, Kai. 1986. Equality and Liberty: A Defense of Radical Egalitarianism (Lanham, Md.: Rowman & Littlefield
- Norris, Pippa, Stefaan Walgrave, and Peter Van Aelst. 2005. Who Demonstrates? Antistate Rebels, Conventional Participants, or Everyone? *Comparative Politics* 37(2):189-205.
- Norris, Pippa. 1996. Does Television Erode Social Capital? A Reply to Putnam. PS: *Political Science and Politics* 29(3):474-480.
- Norris, Pippa. 2002. *Democratic Phoenix: Reinventing Political Activism*. New York: Cambridge University Press.
- Nussbaum, M. C. 2000. *Women and Human Development: The Capabilities Approach*, Cambridge: Cambridge University Press
- O'Donnell, Guillermo, Jorge Vargas Cullell, Osvaldo M. Iazzetta, and Jorge Vargas Cullel. 2004. *The Quality Of Democracy: Theory And Applications*. University of Notre Dame Press, October 31.
- O'Donnell, Guillermo A. The Perpetual Crises of Democracy *Journal of Democracy* Volume 18, Number 1, January 2007, pp. 5-11
- Pantazis, Christina, David Gordon, and Ruth Levitas. 2006. *Poverty and Social Exclusion in Britain: The Millennium Survey*. illustrated edition. Policy Press, January 18.
- Parry, Geraint and George Moyser, and Neil Day. 1992. *Political Participation and Democracy in Britain*. Cambridge University Press, January 31.
- Pateman, Carole. 1976. *Participation and Democratic Theory*. Cambridge University Press, January 30. *Perspectives on Politics* 1(4):663-680.

- Pharr, Susan J., and Robert D. Putnam. 2000. A quarter-century of declining confidence. *Journal of Democracy* 11, no. 2 (April): 5.
- Powell, G. Bingham, Jr. 1984. *Contemporary Democracies: Participation, Stability, and Violence*. Harvard University Press, September.
- Powell, G. Bingham, Jr. 1986. American Turnout in Comparative Perspective. *American Political Science Review* 80(1):17-44.

Przeworski, Adam. 1991. Democracy and the Market: Political and Economic Reforms in Eastern Europe and Latin America. Cambridge University Press, July 26.

- Putnam, Robert D. 2001. *Bowling Alone : The Collapse and Revival of American Community*. 1st ed. Simon & Schuster, August 7.
- Putnam, Robert D., Robert Leonardi, and Raffaella Y. Nanetti. 1994. *Making Democracy Work: Civic Traditions in Modern Italy*. Princeton University Press, May 27.
- Riker, William, and Peter Ordeshook. 1968. A Theory of the Calculus of Voting. *American Political Science Review* 62(1):25-42.
- Robert W. Jackman. 1987. Political Institutions and Voter Turnout in Industrialized Democracies. *American Political Science Review*. 81(2): 405-424.
- Rose-Ackerman, Susan. 1999. Corruption and Government: Causes, Consequences and Reform. New York: Cambridge University Press
- Rose-Ackerman, Susan. 2007. From Elections to Democracy in Central Europe: Public Participation and the Role of Civil Society. *East European Politics and Societies* 21, no. 1 (February 1): 31-47.
- Rosenstone, Steven J., and John Mark Hansen. 1993. *Mobilization, Participation, and Democracy in America*.. McMillan Publishing Company.
- Rousseau, J.J, 1761 *The Social Contract*. Translated by G.D.H. Cole, Published in 1988 by Prometheus Books
- Rueschemeyer, Dietrich 2004. *The Quality of Democracy: Addressing Inequality*. Journal of Democracy; Oct 2004; 15, 4
- Sartori, Giovanni. 1970. Concept Misformation in Comparative Politics. *The American Political Science Review* 64, no. 4 (December): 1033-1053.
- Sartori, Giovanni. 1987a. *The Theory of Democracy Revisited: Part One: The Contemporary Debate, Vol. 1.* Chatham House Publishers, April.
- Sartori, Giovanni. 1987b. *Theory of Democracy Revisited: Part Two: The Classical Issues, Vol. 2.* Chatham House Publishers, April.
- Schmitter, Philippe C. 2003. The quality of democracy: the ambiguous virtues of accountability. Paper presented at the Departmental Seminar of the Department of Political Science at Central European University, 18. January 2006
- Sen, A. (1980) "Equality of What?" in S. M. McMurrin (ed.) The Tanner Lectures on Human Values, Salt Lake City: University of Utah Press.
- Singer, Peter. 1993. Practical Ethics. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press
- Stimson, James A., Michael B. MacKuen, and Robert S. Erikson. 1995. "Dynamic Representation." American Political Science Review 89(3):543-565.
- Stock, Volker, and Tobias Stark. 2007. Political involvement and memory failure as interdependent determinants of vote overreporting. *Applied Cognitive Psychology* 21, no. 2: 239-257.
- Teske, Nathan. 1997. Political Activists in America: The Identity Construction Model of Political Participation. Cambridge University Press, July 28.
- Unger, Peter. 1996. *Living High and Letting Die: Our Illusion of Innocence*. New York: Oxford University Press
- Vanhanen, Tatu, 2000 'A New Dataset for Measuring Democracy, 1810-1998'; Journal of Peace Research, 37, 251-65

- Verba, Sidney 2004. "Would the Dream of Political Equality Turn out to Be a Nightmare?". Perspectives on Politics, vol. 1, no. 04, pp. 663-679.
- Verba, Sidney, and Gary Orren. 1985. *Equality in America: A View from the Top*. Harvard University Press, March.
- Verba, Sidney, and Norman H. Nie. 1987. *Participation in America: Political Democracy and Social Equality*. University Of Chicago Press, January 16.
- Verba, Sidney, Kay Lehman Schlozman, and Henry Brady. 1995. Voice and Equality: Civic Voluntarism in American Politics. Harvard University Press, September 26.
- Verba, Sidney. 1987. Participation and Political Equality: A Seven-Nation Comparison. University Of Chicago Press, August 15.
- Verkuilen, Jay 2009. Conceptualizing and Measuring Democracy in Munck, Gerardo L. 2009.(ed.) Measuring Democracy. A Bridge between Scholarship and Politics. The John Hopkins University Press
- Ware, Alan 2006. A concept of political equality: A Post-Dahl analysis. Political Studies Volume 29 Issue 3, Pages 392 - 406
- Wolfinger, R.E. and Rosenstone, S.J. 1980. Who votes? New Haven: Yale University Press.